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OPERATIONS

Investing in software
to improve operations

Synchronised
database
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2020 was a year of digital innovation for
AFH. We invested heavily in our digital
operations to ensure that the business ran more
efficiently than ever before, ultimately saving
AFH both time and money. We pass these
savings on to our clients in the form of reduced
costs and greater convenience.

Improved
communication

Notice to the AGM

Simpler invitation
system

Improved efficiency
and accuracy
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CHAIRMAN’S INTRODUCTION

Dear shareholder,
The period under review was one of
unprecedented uncertainty and it is
a huge tribute to our staff, advisers
and providers that we were able
to maintain and, in many cases,
enhance our service to clients
throughout, whilst maintaining
the profitability of the Group.

As I set out at the beginning of 2020, the Board viewed the year as one
for consolidating the exceptional growth of previous periods carefully,
managing capital allocation and reducing the contingent consideration
outstanding on previous acquisitions.
This approach left the Company well placed
to react quickly to the COVID-19 crisis as it
developed in the spring and enabled us to
progress through the year without the need
for a change in strategic direction. While
2020 may be seen as a year of consolidation
rather than growth, the Company was able
to strengthen its balance sheet and report
increased revenues and Underlying EBITDA
compared to previous years.
The Board believes that its business model of
advice-led investment management and its
client proposition that shares the benefits of
the AFH community through lower investment
costs and no platform fees has proved resilient
during 2020, with outflows of client funds
remaining at prior year levels in contrast to
the increased outflows experienced by many
in the sector.
Whilst new business inflows were impacted by
COVID-19 requiring our advisers to engage
with clients and prospects remotely, the post
summer period saw a gradual increase in new
business, driven initially by mortgage work but
latterly by investment advice.
Recurring revenues again tracked the major
UK indices and, despite a downturn at midyear following the significant falls in the equity
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markets, ended the year at a similar level to
that recorded in Q1.
During the period the Company reduced its
outstanding contingent consideration on past
acquisitions from £37.9m to £19.3m and is
expecting to reduce this further to below £10m
during the first half of the 2021 financial year.
In March 2020, the Company repurchased a
portion of its 4% convertible unsecured loan
stock due 2024 (“CULS”) at a discount of 13% to
the nominal face value of the CULS. Following
this repurchase, the aggregate outstanding
nominal amount of the CULS remaining in issue
is £13.6m. In September, the Company also
repaid the outstanding 8% Unsecured Bonds at
par as they matured.
The above transactions were carried out using
the Company’s cash resources and while
the HSBC facility of £12m was drawn down in
March and April, this cash was unspent and
remained on the Company balance sheet at
the year end. On 15 January 2021 the HSBC
Facility was extended to £20m on unchanged
terms. This additional facility has not been
drawn.

Outlook

The loyalty, professionalism and hard work of our employees
and advisers has never been as evident as in 2020, when we
introduced new processes and systems for remote working to
facilitate the smooth operation of the business in the face of a
global pandemic.

The Board remains of the opinion that there is an increasing
requirement for a professional, financial planning-led approach
to wealth management delivered by trusted personal advisers and
supported by the effective use of technology.

Despite the challenges of such a large scale shift, in March and
April the Company was able to connect over 400 employees to
our systems and infrastructure to enable remote working within a
few weeks and staff were extremely quick to adapt to this new style
of working. These changes have allowed us to maintain regular
interaction both within AFH’s departments and adviser group and
externally with our clients. Since the start of the first national
lockdown we were able to provide weekly updates on technical,
regulatory and operational matters that were regularly attended
by over 100 advisers and staff.

It remains the Board’s ambition to maintain the alignment of
interest between our employees and advisers with those of our
clients and shareholders. We continue to develop and promote
our people from within the Group at every opportunity, so that
many key positions are occupied by home-grown talent. It is the
enthusiasm, dedication and creativity of our staff and advisers that
allows the Group to continue to deliver according to its strategy
and to continue doing so even through times of adversity as we
experienced in 2020.

The Company continues to be cash generative and, during the last
year, has strengthened its balance sheet. The Board expects the
pace of consolidation within the sector to increase as commercial
factors and regulatory requirements encourage a smaller number
of larger businesses to dominate the sector and believes that AFH
is well positioned to benefit from this opportunity. As in previous
years, AFH will continue to focus on driving the organic growth of
the business, providing professional and cost-effective services to
clients while seeking appropriately priced opportunities to expand
its captive distribution throughout the financial sector to drive
increased profitability and shareholder return.
Given the resilience shown in 2020 and the early months of the
2021 financial year, which despite the current lockdown anticipates
a positive outcome from the vaccines being rolled out, together
with the anticipated acquisition opportunities, the Board views
the coming year with confidence and looks forward to continued
success.

Financial statements

John Wheatley
Chairman

Dividend

15 January 2021
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Notice to the AGM

The Board intends to continue the Group’s progressive dividend
policy, while recognising the requirement to maintain sufficient
cash reserves within the Company to fund its growth strategy.
Having considered this, in light of the resilient performance during
the year under review, it is the Board’s intention to maintain the
2020 level of dividend and will pay a first interim dividend of 3p on
16 February 2021 to shareholders on the register of members at
the close of business on 29 January 2021, the ex-dividend date is
28 January 2021, and pay a second interim dividend in July 2021.
This second interim dividend will be reviewed in the light of the
country being released from the current lockdown restrictions
and the impact on trading during the period.

10.8

Governance

I would like to personally thank all our staff and advisers for the
way in which they reacted to the changes and for the exceptional
contribution that they collectively made to the Company and our
clients.

The Board has worked to ensure the necessary infrastructure and
management is in place to support its growth plans for 2021 and
beyond and has been encouraged by the proven resilience of
the business under challenging economic and social conditions.
Continued investment in technology and digital media is
expected to accelerate the benefits of scale and the infrastructure
investment made in previous periods.

Strategic Report

Our people
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
I am pleased to report on another
year of progress towards our goal of
becoming the UK’s leading adviceled wealth management company.
Despite the disruption caused by
COVID-19 and the impact that it has
had on our clients, advisers and staff,
the Company achieved both revenue
and Underlying EBITDA growth whilst
maintaining our Underlying EBITDA
margin.
The Company continues to focus on the long-term needs of its clients
and on reducing their overall cost of investing. Our clients entrust us to
help them meet their financial planning objectives and we recognise
that over a period of 20 years or more the cost of investing can
represent a material cost compared to the original investment.
For this reason, the Company uses its size
and buying power for the benefit of its clients.
This was evidenced during the period as the
growth in our segregated mandates further
reduced the fund management charges to
our clients and consolidated our position of
providing a market leading client proposition.
The AFH business model remains
underpinned by the culture that is
encapsulated in our values. The Board
recognises the multitude of stakeholders
served by the AFH community and seeks
to balance the interests of all stakeholders
when implementing its business strategy.
This was particularly apparent in the Group’s
acquisition strategy, where an alignment of
cultures has been proven to be fundamental
to the integration and success of our
acquired businesses.
New business revenues were significantly
impacted during the second half of the year
as uncertainty and the reduced opportunities
for our advisers to meet and establish
relationships with new clients combined to
limit the amount of financial advice given and,
in turn, the inflows of new portfolios. However,
our continued investment in technology in
prior years enabled our advisers to adapt
quickly, maintaining contact with and providing
ongoing services to existing clients. This was
enhanced during the second half of the year
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by the roll-out of our client portal and wider
dissemination of our technical and investment
updates to our clients through digital media.
New business in the protection division
benefitted from an initial surge in public
interest in life and critical illness insurance.
This was, however, tempered in the final
quarter as cancellation of policies taken
out at the height of the national lockdown
was higher than usual as the perception of
the likely spread and severity of COVID-19
changed following the government’s
relaxation of restrictions.
Notwithstanding the above, new business levels
in the wealth management division slowly
increased during the latter part of the year and,
whilst not returning to pre COVID-19 levels, the
trend gives us confidence for the new financial
year and the anticipated need for professional
financial planning as the economic and fiscal
impact of the pandemic is transmitted through
society.
Recurring revenues increased during the
period in spite of the market downturn at
mid-year and again proved our investment
approach across the various attitude to risk
investment models. Recurring revenue
accounted for 78% of total revenue in the
wealth management division, an increase
from 72% in 2019.

Strategy

Central to our strategy is to put clients’ interests first to build a
sustainable business that reflects our vision, including a drive
to reduce the cost of ancillary third-party services for our
clients and to embrace them in the AFH community. During the
year, we continued to to reduce third party fees to provide a
market leading client proposition while retaining our status as
independent financial advisers, providing access for our clients
to the market at institutional prices.

Despite the impact of COVID-19 on the business and the
temporary withdrawal from the acquisition market, the year
under review produced a seventh consecutive year of revenue
growth and improved profitability since joining AIM in 2014.
Increased revenues and tight control of our fixed cost base
enabled a stable statutory Earnings Per Share at 25.0p while
underlying Earnings Per Share, excluding the benefit of IFRS 16,
increased by 4% to 34.1p.
Total revenue for the 12 months ended 31 October 2020 of
£77.1m was 4% above the corresponding period (2019: £74.3m)
reflecting the resilience of the business in extraordinary times.

Gross Inflows from organic growth

0.35

Market impact

(0.2)

Outflows

(0.15)

Balance as at 31 October 2020

6.2

Gross margins declined in our protection business during the
year following the strategic change in product mix. This reduced
the divisional gross margin to 37%. While the gross margin
of our Wealth Management division remained constant, at a
consolidated level the protection division change reduced the
overall gross margin from 53% to 50%.
During the year we were able to increase our Underlying EBITDA
and to maintain our Underlying EBITDA margin above 23%
(2019: 23.2%) despite the reduction in the gross margin caused
by the revised mix of business in the protection division and the
impact of COVID-19.
Interest charges increased during the year as the 12-month
impact of the 4% CULS was recognised and the Company drew
down the HSBC facility at a net annualised cost to the business
of 1.75%.
Profit after tax for the year of £10.7m (2019: £10.8m) confirmed
the resilience of the business and enabled the Company
to maintain its dividend during the year whilst maintaining
appropriate cash reserves throughout the year. Statutory
Earnings Per Share remained stable at 25.0p (2019:25.4p).
Underlying EBITDA, adjusted for tax per share, being Underlying
EBITDA less a current tax charge at 19%, is a key measure used
by the Board which reflects the cash-based Earnings Per Share
generated by the business. This increased slightly to 34.1p
(2019: 32.8p).

34.1

Our retention of existing clients and their investment funds
continued to be high with outflows, including pension drawdown,
remaining at 3% of opening funds under management.
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Notice to the AGM

The continuing requirement of our clients for financial advice
and protection insurance generated £29.8m (2019: £28.3m)
of new business revenues, while recurring income of £47m
(2019: £46m) continued to demonstrate the strength of our
revenue base and earnings quality.

6.2

Financial statements

Financial Performance

Reported as at 1 November 2019

Governance

Culture is at the centre of any successful organisation and
remains the driving force of both our internal growth and
acquisitions. Our values, which are detailed in the Annual
Report, have been documented to ensure that we are able to
measure our progress and achieve both our vision and
financial aspirations.

Funds under
Management:
£ billion

Strategic Report

The Group strategy to increase shareholder value through
the expansion of the AFH community remains at the heart of
AFH’s growth. While in 2020 the Company withdrew from the
acquisition market in order to consolidate its previous growth
and to strengthen its balance sheet through the reduction of
outstanding debt and contingent consideration, our strategy of
combining organic growth through greater productivity of our
advisers together with value accretive acquisitions financed on
an earn out model remains unchanged. The financial success
of our strategy is monitored regularly by the Board against KPIs
and is measured against the three key aspirational targets set by
the Board in 2019.

MARKETING
Utilising digital channels
We pushed our digital marketing on to
another level in 2020, ensuring that we
were always in front of our clients – even
when they were stuck at home.

Programmatic Adverts
Sky's programmatic advertising service uses automation software to ensure advertisers
only pay when adverts hit the right demographics across the company's media platforms.

Google PPC Ads
Google's Pay Per Click (PPC) online advertising service remains the biggest
and best internet-based marketing platform around.

Paid advertising
Facebook is the second-largest online advertising platform after Google,
and the most powerful social media marketing channel by a long shot.

Linkedin Presence
While LinkedIn cannot compete with Facebook for size, it is an exclusively
business-focused platform which offers users the ability to connect with
clients and curate their messaging.

Bing PPC Ads
Second only to Google in the world of search engines, Bing is an important advertising
platform when it comes to reaching those that have opted out of Google.
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Investment in Technology and Digital

Our marketing strategy continues to embrace the digital
opportunities for the sector. For a number of years, the
Group has invested in establishing a marketing capability to
support a growing national business and to extend beyond the
traditional IFA routes to market. While we believe that face-toface advisory remains the best model to serve clients’ needs,
our evolving digital approach has already started to expand
our target market and to provide benefits to individuals and
corporates who join the AFH community.

Review of investment climate in 2020

While the disruption wrought by the pandemic was
unprecedented, global policymakers’ responses to it was also
on a scale never seen before. Governments around the world
spent in excess of US$10 trillion on various relief measures
– such as furlough schemes, benefit top-ups and loans - to
support households and businesses. Meanwhile, central banks
cut interest rates, injected liquidity into markets and restarted
quantitative easing (QE, or bond buying) programmes.

However, this headline performance masked a wide divergence
between regions and market sectors. With lockdowns
accelerating the move towards ‘online living’, the big tech
companies that profited from this trend (e.g. Amazon, Microsoft,
Netflix etc.) led the market higher. As a result, the US equity
market, home to most of these tech titans, outperformed and
returned nearly 10% during the year. Chinese equities benefited
not only from a high exposure to the tech/online sector, but also
from Beijing’s relatively successful containment of the virus and
the subsequent ‘V-shaped’ recovery in the Chinese economy. As
a result, Chinese equities outshone other major markets during
the period, rising more than 30%.
A relatively high exposure to underperforming sectors and a
low representation of companies in the tech sector meant that
UK equities were one of the worst-performing markets during
the year. Despite relatively generous government support
for households and businesses, the UK experienced a worse
economic contraction than its developed market peers. Deep
cuts to dividends took a heavy toll on a market whose incomegenerating qualities have historically been a key attraction. By
the end of the 12-month period, the broad UK equity market
was down more than 20%. The disappointing performance of
our domestic market highlighted the importance of a diversified
portfolio, both in terms of asset class and geography.
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The year was a rollercoaster ride for investors, dominated by
the fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic and policymakers’
responses to it. The period started well enough, with markets
buoyed by a victory for the Conservative Party in the December
2019 UK general election, the avoidance of a ‘no-deal’ Brexit
and the signing of the US-China ‘phase-one’ trade deal in
January. However, as the pandemic spread from China to
the rest of the world, the introduction of stringent lockdown
restrictions resulted in an unprecedented contraction in the
global economy during the spring. Although the lifting of
lockdown measures ushered in a sharp rebound during the
summer, most major economies - with the notable exception
of China - ended the period with economic activity still well
below pre-pandemic levels.

The liquidity injections from central banks also spurred a
turnaround in global equity markets. After a positive start to
2020, the mood amongst equity investors turned sour towards
the end of February as the ramifications of global COVID-19
lockdowns became clear. Between 19th February and 23rd
March, global equities (as measured by the iShares MSCI ACWI
ETF) fell nearly 34% - the fastest drop ever recorded. However,
supported by record monetary and fiscal stimulus, the bounce
back was also extraordinarily swift, with the broad global market
regaining its prior peak at the end of August and recording a
gain of around 4% over the 12-month period.

Financial statements

We believe that our approach to technology, together with our
focus on reducing third party costs for our clients, will provide
clear commercial advantages for our clients and advisers and
enable AFH to benefit from further consolidation in the market,
generating significant shareholder and client value in the future.

In turn, ultra-low government bond yields boosted the relative
appeal of other assets. The combination of negative ‘real’
(i.e. after inflation) bond yields and the uncertainty created
by COVID-19 helped push the gold price to a record high
of just above US$2000 per ounce in early August. Despite a
subsequent pull-back, gold still notched up a gain in excess of
20% over the year.

Governance

In addition to supporting over 300 staff and our IFAs to work
remotely from our offices, 2020 saw the launch of our client
portal and an increased focus on digital marketing. We will
continue to build on these and new technology solutions in the
future in order to enhance the support provided to our advisers
and services offered to clients. We are also currently looking at
offering cyborg advisory services to provide greater flexibility in
our interaction with existing and potential clients.

These interventions served to underpin financial markets.
Despite the huge increase in borrowing, yields on developed
market government bonds hit record lows as central banks
committed to buy vast quantities of debt, and investors
anticipated that official interest rates would stay close to zero
for years to come. Amidst speculation that the Bank of England
would at some stage take interest rates below zero (a fate which
has so far been avoided), yields on short-dated UK government
bonds spent much of the year in negative territory. As bond
prices move inversely with yields, Gilts delivered solid singledigit returns over the period.

Strategic Report

For many years we have seen increased technology supporting
our face-to-face advisory model as fundamental to the future of
our business and have consistently invested in technology both
operationally and for the benefit of our clients. The events of
2020 demonstrated the value of this strategy. 2020 was a year
of further investment, with over £1.5m expensed as we targeted
long term operational efficiencies and a streamlined
experience for our clients in addition to supporting our staff
and advisers working remotely.

SEGMENT REVIEW
Financial advisory and investment management
Financial advisory, and the ongoing
investment management of our
client portfolios, represents the
core business of AFH. Likewise, the
management of our clients’ funds
is driven by their attitude to risk on
the basis of long-term investments
that are measured against the
equivalent ARC Private Client Index
(“PCI”) and reported regularly
to our clients, providing the
opportunity for them to measure
our investment performance in the
context of a range of discretionary
investment managers.
The average discretionary portfolio
managed on behalf of our clients
continues to be approximately
£200,000 of investable assets, the
construction of which is primarily
based on a client’s risk appetite and
focused on wealth preservation.
However, for clients with larger
portfolios who wish for a more
traditional stockbroking service,
AFH Private Wealth was established
in 2016 and now manages over
£250m of client assets, operating
from Bromsgrove and Colwyn Bay.
During the period we have grown
our employed adviser base to
complement the already established
self-employed adviser model. This
strategy has allowed us to broaden
our appeal in the IFA market and
recruit in a challenging market
where demand continues to exceed
supply. While having no financial
impact on the year under review,
this strategy has enabled the
Company to enter 2021 with a strong
pipeline of employed advisers who
are scheduled to join AFH in the first
calendar quarter of 2021, providing
a significant boost to our capacity
and geographic penetration at a
time when the need for professional
financial planning is expected to be
at exceptional levels.
During the year, our initial financial
planning fees totalled £12.7m
(2019: £15.1m, reflecting the
challenges faced by our advisers
during the year as highlighted
above. Ongoing management fees
increased to £47.3m (2019: £43m),
in spite of the markets, which spent
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much of the year below prior year
levels, and the modest levels of
net inflows from new and existing
clients. This increase was reflected
in the ratio of recurring income to
new business within this division,
which increased to 78% for the
period.
Employment costs remain the
major fixed cost of the division,
accounting for over 80% of all
fixed cash expenditure. During the
year, all of our staff agreed to a
temporary salary reduction in the
light of the uncertainty as to how
the business would be impacted by
the COVID-19 pandemic. In asking
staff to make this sacrifice the
Board considered the short-term
effect of the 2007 financial crisis
when over 60% of new business
was lost in the period following the
initial crash and I echo the thanks
of the Chairman to all of our staff
for their action. I am also pleased
to report that the full impact of
the reduction was only applied for
three months and all staff were
returned to their original salaries in
September 2020.
As noted above, the division
invested heavily in IT and marketing
initiatives during the year which
enabled it to maintain a full service
to our clients throughout the
year. The digital marketing drive,
which was launched in June 2020,
showed significant promise with
the cost per lead and conversion
rates both in line with the Board’s
expectations, based on the
marketing studies undertaken
prior to launch. Whilst the project
remains at an early stage and
the full revenue benefits of this
new channel to market are not
apparent in the 2020 results we are
pleased with progress to date and
the initial results and will continue
to monitor closely. Notwithstanding
this increased cost, the division
generated an increased EBITDA
of £16.5m (2019: £14.2m),
representing a 28% margin on
revenue (2019: 24%).

Strategic Business Model

WE CREATE VALUE
Strategic Report

• For staff (employer of choice)
• For clients (advice and investment
manager of choice), and
• For investors (positive investment
relationship and returns)

OUR WAY
Our financial planning – led
wealth management delivered
through personal, F2F
interactions, is underpinned
by our size, internal investment
and increased inflow
of new funds

INVESTMENT
In people, technology,
infrastrastructure and
through embracing digitisation

Governance

OUR SIZE

INCREASING FUNDS

We use our size and financial
strength to negotiate rates
on behalf of clients

Increased inflow of new
funds leads to growth of
funds under management

Financial statements

Capital structure

As outlined in November 2019, during the period the focus of
this division was on cash generation and the maintenance of
the working capital requirements from the Company. This was
anticipated to reduce the gross margin significantly from the
54% level reported in 2019 as the ratio of indemnified vs nonindemnified policies written moved significantly in favour of the
former.

As reported in 2019, in assessing its financial gearing, the
Board considers the structure of the AFH acquisition model
with over 50% of the maximum consideration to be deferred
and subject to performance criteria as a component of the
Group’s financing structure. In November 2019 the Board
decided to reduce the overall level of gearing by the reduction
of the contingent consideration balances, which at 31 October
2019 totalled £37.9m, and by using its trading cash surplus and
banking facilities to repay the 8% Loan Notes that matured in
September 2020.

Our face to face protection broking business, Eunisure, enjoyed
a strong first half continuing to perform well during the initial
lockdown in spring 2020 when demand for protection products
increased across the sector as the public became more aware
of the dangers of remaining underinsured.
The fourth quarter of the year saw a fall in demand for new
protection insurance and a number of policies taken out
during the initial stages of the pandemic cancelled as public
confidence increased with reduced government restrictions.
Notwithstanding the somewhat turbulent nature of the year the
division was able to increase revenues to £17.1m (2019: £14.2m).
The division generated EBITDA of £4.6m (2019: £5.4m),
representing a 27% margin on revenue (2019: 38%), reflecting
the decreased gross margin following the strategic change in
the product mix of this division.

The Group continues to maintain a strong cash position and,
furthermore, all regulated subsidiary companies reported
significant margins above their regulatory and stress-tested
capital requirements as at 31 October 2020.
As noted in the Chairman’s Statement, in March 2020 the
Company repurchased a portion of the 4% CULS, issued in
August 2019, at a discount of 13%. As at 31 October 2020 there
remained £13.6m CULS outstanding, convertible at a price of
£4.20 per share and maturing in August 2024.
At the year end, the Group had a maximum £19.3m of
contingent consideration outstanding over the next three
financial periods, subject to performance criteria, together with
£13.6m of CULS. Based on past performance it is unlikely that
all of the contingent consideration would become payable.

11

Notice to the AGM

Protection broking

Current year trading
Trading in the initial months of the current year continued
resiliently in the face of continued uncertainty. In the coming
months we expect our strong pipeline of newly employed
advisers to join the firm, providing us with a significant boost
to AFH’s advisory capacity and geographical reach at a time
when we see the demand for professional financial planning
growing significantly.
As reported even prior to the pandemic’s impact on global
markets, 2020 was to be one of consolidation for AFH and
we are extremely pleased to have finished the period with a
strengthened balance sheet, significantly reduced outstanding
contingent considerations and strong cash balances.
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Trading remains in line with the Board’s expectations and the
resilience shown throughout 2020 and in the first months
of the new financial year leaves us confident about the year
ahead.
Alan Hudson
Chief Executive Officer
15 January 2021

Strategic Report
Governance

OUR EXPERT FINANCIAL
Financial statements

PLANNERS OFFER YOU
PERSONALISED ADVICE
THAT IS TAILORED
TO YOUR LIFE AND
FUTURE GOALS.

Notice to the AGM
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The following section summarises the principal risks and uncertainties that impact both
the Group and the market in which we operate. The Board is responsible for assessing the
principal risks and these are monitored on a monthly basis.
Against each of the principal risks’ consideration is given to the Group’s exposure and the extent to which the risk can be mitigated.
There have been no material changes in the principal risks to the Group during the year. However, the increasing number and
sophistication of cyber-attacks on businesses have, in the opinion of the Board, increased the likelihood and impact of Cyber and
GDPR issues for the financial services sector.
The Board considers risk within four categories: Conduct, Credit, Market and Operational. The Group’s overall risk management
programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance and its reputation arising from
these risk areas.
The Key financial and non-financial risks identified by the Board and the measures taken to mitigate their impact are:
Risks and impacts

GDPR and
Cyber Risk

Reduced market
yield risk

Adviser
recruitment and
retention risk

Regulatory,
legislative and
tax risk
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How we monitor and manage the risk
The remote working that the Group,
and other companies have adopted
following the Covid outbreak and
the reported increase in Cyber
fraud throughout the world has
increased the risk of AFH being
targeted by 3rd parties.
The failure or compromise of an
IT system, whether internal or
outsourced, could lead to disruption
of services to clients, reputational
damage and a negative impact on
profitability.

The Group seeks to minimise this risk through close working
relationships with our outsourced suppliers supported by
appropriate Service Level Agreements against which performance
is monitored. Business continuity arrangements are in place for
our major technical services, many of which have been hosted
in a cloud environment since 2016. We continue to monitor and
enhance our existing cyber security capability in line with the
increasing threat and work with third party partners to test and
implement security protocols.

In an environment where market
forecasters are projecting lower
yields in the future the Group may
fail to deliver past levels of return
to our clients. The global economic
slowdown experienced in 2020 and
the potential implications for future
years has increased this risk during
2020 and the Group continues
to manage client portfolios for
medium term stability and growth.

Our business model is based on providing above average
market returns whilst reducing the cost of investment for our
clients thereby increasing the net yield from their portfolios. The
Investment Committee includes external professionals who work
with our research analysts to construct and manage portfolios
appropriate to the risk and financial planning needs of our
clients. Our discretionary clients’ portfolios are managed on an
ongoing basis to react to short term market fluctuations within the
investment strategy set out by the Investment Committee.

Adviser recruitment and retention
is an area of ongoing focus for the
Group.

We employ specialist managers within our Business Development
and Training & Compliance teams to recruit and manage high
quality advisers who adhere to the Group’s client centric culture.
AFH generated clients are matched to advisers based on relevant
expertise and location to cement both clients and advisers
within the Group community whilst our commercial structure
encourages the retention of advisers.

Regulatory, legislative or tax
changes.

The risk of regulatory, legislative or tax changes cannot be easily
mitigated. However, we actively engage with our regulators in an
open and constructive manner. The Group employs appropriate
expertise within the Risk and Technical teams to maintain an
awareness of impending changes and where appropriate engages
with independent experts to implement suitable processes.
Internal management is augmented by scheduled external audits
of our compliance function and processes. Our governance
structure, implemented through committees and managed
internally seeks to ensure that we remain compliant with evolving
regulations.

Change in
the year

Acquisitive risk

The acquisitive nature of our
business risks importing advice
liabilities and people into the Group
who do not share our culture or
standards. During the year the
Group temporarily withdrew from
this activity leading to a decrease in
the perception of this risk.

The Group employs a full time acquisitions team who are
responsible for the Due Diligence, contractual negotiations and
integration of all acquisitions under the ultimate direction of
the Chief Executive Officer. The Group adopt standard process
questionnaires and contracts for acquisitions and always obtain
full indemnities from each of the vendors in respect of any
financial advice liability relating to the period before acquisition.
The earn out model used by the Group provides a cash asset
during the initial two years post acquisition against which any
undisclosed liabilities can be offset. The cultural fit of vendors and
their client base is examined during due diligence and formal
induction courses are mandatory for joining advisers prior to
completion of the acquisition.

Interest rate risk
and cash flow risk

The Group manages its treasury
function on a centralised basis.
The main sources of revenue
and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.
The Group has significant interestbearing assets on which it seeks
to obtain a commercial rate of
return from AA or above rated
UK institutions whilst not having a
material adverse effect on cash
flow. There are no significant
variable rate interest-bearing
liabilities. The Board monitors both
its regulatory requirements and
cash flow forecasts on a regular
basis and works with its professional
advisers to ensure that appropriate
funding is in place at all times.

Change in
the year

Governance

How we monitor and manage the risk

Strategic Report

Risks and impacts

It remains the Group strategy to ensure that sufficient cash is held
to finance both the initial consideration and any additional cash
requirement that could arise through contingent consideration
relating to that acquisition in advance of any acquisition being
completed.
During the year a £12m long term facility was agreed
with HSBC onstandard commercial rates.

Financial statements

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Individual risk limits

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash
and marketable securities, the
availability of funding and the ability
to close out market positions.

The Group’s objectives when
Capital risk

managing capital are to safeguard
its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and to maintain
an appropriate capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with
limits set by the Board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored. The Group receives the majority of its income
directly from blue chip financial institutions in accordance with
instructions placed by its clients thereby minimising the risk of
incurring bad debts.
The Group maintains flexibility by maintaining significant
headroom in its cash position. Management monitors forecasts
of the Group’s liquidity on the basis of expected cash flows. This
is carried out in accordance with recommended accounting
practice and limits set by the Group. The Board reviews the
Group’s liquidity at its
monthly meetings.

Notice to the AGM

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and
cash equivalents and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as
well as commercial transactions.

The Group monitors capital by maintaining or adjusting the capital
structure by managing the level of dividends paid to shareholders,
issuing new shares and unsecured securities or selling assets to
maintain financial resources. The structure used by the Group to
acquire businesses and business assets includes a significant level
of unsecured debt that becomes payable on the achievement of
certain revenue and profit targets. The capital employed by the
Group is composed of equity attributable to the shareholders;
CULS and long term unsecured corporate bonds, as detailed in
the Statement of Changes in Equity together with the deferred
contingent liabilities arising of acquisitions.
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Key performance indicators
The directors consider the key financial performance indicators (“KPIs”) for the Group are as follows:

5 year chart

2016

Revenue –total income
from all revenue streams

Link to Strategy

• Grow revenue through
acquisition to expand
national footprint and
buying power

£24.1m

2017

£33.6m

2018

£50.7m

2019

£74.3m

2020

£77.1m

• Generate new and retain
existing clients

Progress in 2020

• Recurring income trading
at over £40m per year
• Average adviser revenue
grew to £262k

• Increase productivity
of advisers
Gross margin –revenue
generated by the Group
after fees paid to its
advisors and other direct
costs of sale
Underlying EBITDA
margin –profit
generated from the
Group’s operating
activities before any
financing costs, taxation,
non cash share based
payments, depreciation
and amortisation as a
proportion of revenue
Adjusted profit after tax
– profit after taxation,
but excluding non cash
share based payments,
and amortisation of
intangible assets
Adjusted EPS – total
comprehensive income
for the year, net of
tax, attributable to
equity holders of the
Group, adjusted to
add back acquisition
costs expensed under
IFRS 3 (Revised) and
the amortisation of
intangible assets, divided
by the number of
ordinary shares in issue

2016

55%

2017

53%

2018

54%

2019

53%

2020

50%

2016
2017

21%
23%

2020

23%

2016
2017

£4.5m
£8.5m

2019

£14.0m

2020

2016

• On target for aspiration
of 25% within 3 years.

• Cash generation of
the business

• Small increase to £14.6m

• Return generated for
shareholders

• Stable in uncertain
environment

• Progressive dividend policy

• Adjusted to reflect cash
and profitability levels

£14.6m

11.6p

2017

17.0p

2018

22.7p

2019

32.8p

2020

2018

• Measure of cash generated
by the business

• reduced following change
in product mix in protection
division

£2.9m

2018

2017

16

17%

2019

2016

Dividend paid per share

• One of three strategic
aspirations to generate
increased margins through
scale and cost efficiencies

15%

2018

• Profitability of advisory and
investment services before
central cost

34.1p

1.5p
2.25p
3p

2019

6p

2020

6p

In addition the directors consider the non financial key performance indicators (“KPIs”) for the Group, which are reviewed
on a monthly basis, are as follows:
• Advice Quality Reviews – review of the suitability of financial planning and investment advice
provided to our client base;
• File Quality – measuring the quality and integrity of documentation ensuring that it provides enough defence against future
financial and regulatory scrutiny and represents the quality of advice provided;
Strategic Report

• Complaints – measuring the volume of regulated advice and service complaints received within any given period;
• Treating customers fairly surveys – qualitative information sought from clients who engage in new/repeat
advice process;
• Breaches – measuring process failures throughout the Group and thematic evidence produced to highlight
weaknesses for action;
• Data and Cyber Breaches – measuring data and cyber failures throughout the Group to highlight
weaknesses for action.

Directors during the financial year

Governance

John Wheatley, Alan Hudson, Paul Wright, Susan Lewis, Mark Chambers, Austin Broad and Alexis Larvin were
directors of the Company throughout the financial year.

Directors’ attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings
Board Meetings

Audit Committee

Remuneration
Committee

J Wheatley

1/1

12/12

2/2

1/1

S Lewis

1/1

12/12

2/2

1/1

M Chambers

1/1

12/12

2/2

1/1

A Hudson

1/1

12/12

2/2

1/1

P Wright

1/1

12/12

2/2

N/A

A Larvin

1/1

11/12

N/A

N/A

A Broad

1/1

12/12

N/A

N/A

Financial statements

Strategy Meetings

Director’s report

Strategic considerations are documented within the Director’s Report on page [XX].
Approved by the board
Notice to the AGM

Mr J Wheatley
Chairman
15 January 2021
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S172 Companies Act 2006
The board should understand the views of the company’s key stakeholders and describe how their interests and the matters
set out in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 have been considered in board discussions and decision-making.

Our Key Stakeholders

Shareholders
Maintaining a transparent
and open dialogue with
our shareholders to
ensure an understanding
of our strategy and
performance is a key
element of our corporate
governance.

How we engage

What is important to them

Key metrics for FY2020

Our principal means of
engagement are:-

Financial performance

Increase in Revenue
and EBITDA in a year of
disruption and change
resulting from Covid

Annual General meeting

Capital allocation including
Dividends

Investor roadshows

Share price appreciation

One to one meetings
Annual Report and Accounts

Business model
ESG

Dividend maintained
Share price performing
above sector comparatives
Reduced carbon footprint

Trading and results
announcements
through the RNS
Investor presentations are
published on our investors
website.

Employees
We recognise that along
with our advisers our
employees are our
greatest asset and it is
through their combined
efforts that the Company
is able to consistently
meet its strategic
objectives

We engage formally with all
our employees through our
Group intranet “The Hive”,
regular briefings and the biannual appraisal and forward
target setting process.
Informal engagement is
maintained through social
events, both actual and
virtual.

Fulfilling and rewarding work
Career development and
learning opportunities
Flexible working
opportunities
Competitive remuneration
and benefits package
Opportunity to benefit from
the Company’s success

Reduced staff turnover
during 2020
Record numbers of
professional and career
development modules
delivered
Over 90% of staff enabled
to work remotely during
the year creating greater
opportunities for flexible
arrangements in the future

Staff learn AFH values and
culture at induction and
this is reinforced through
living the values and
providing staff with the
opportunity to progress
and fulfil their potential
Clients
Our clients rely on us to
advise them on efficient
financial planning and
for ongoing review and
investment management
designed to meet their
agreed objectives
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Face to face scheduled
meetings with advisers

Personal service tailored to
their specific requirements

Client portal

Reliable financial planning
advice

Regular On-line fact sheets
and technical updates
together with quarterly
personal reporting.

Investment performance in
line with expectations

Client portal launched
during the year available to
all discretionary clients
Average portfolio
performance ahead of
major UK equity indices

Our Key Stakeholders

Advisers

Suppliers

We endeavour to assist local
and national communities to
benefit from our employees’
and advisers’ desire to
make a difference in their
communities.
Environment

Dedicated support from
administrative pods and
technical resource
Regular investment strategy
updates
Adviser community to
encourage business and
social interaction

Access to full and current
data on their clients
Benefits of the AFH
community including
marketing other Company
initiatives

Weekly and monthly
community updates
delivered via Teams and
other digital media

We aim to work in a
collaborative manner with
our suppliers to build long
term and mutually beneficial
relationships.

Long term relationships

Positive supplier feedback

Collaborative working

Participation on advisory
council of our major supplier

We provide support to our
local communities through
group and local fundraising
and participating in local
events.

Participation as an active
member of the local
business community

Active membership of
business and professional
bodies during the year

Financial support

Increased financial support
to local communities and
national charities selected
by AFH staff

In addition to AFH initiatives
we encourage our staff to
support local communities.
Since 2019 AFH have
developed its video
conferencing and client
portals.
The challenges of Covid 19
accelerated this drive to
reduce car usage by our
advisers whilst all AFH office
energy contracts require
100% renewable energy
sources.
AFH recycle paper waste and
seek alternatives to plastic
where possible.

Fair and balanced
contractual terms

Collaborative approach to
local issues

Reduction in carbon
emissions and elimination
of landfill and other waste
disposal methods for nonrecyclable waste.

Regular dialogue and formal
meetings with significant
suppliers

Significant reduction of
motor travel and adoption
of Microsoft Teams as the
primary option for client
meetings and internal
forums.

Notice to the AGM

We are committed to
reducing our environmental
impact through reducing
carbon emissions in line with
government targets reducing
paper waste through digital
communication and recycling
office consumables where
possible

Client portal launched
during the year

Financial statements

Local and National
Communities

Key metrics for FY2020

Clear and timely economic,
technical and investment
guidance.

Governance

The Company works with
two significant suppliers
whose products are used
in the direct management
of our clients and their
portfolios together with a
number of other suppliers,
many of whom have long
term relationships with the
Company.

What is important to them

Regular technical and
economic updates

Strategic Report

Together with our staff
advisers represent our
major asset, working both
as the primary interface
with our existing clients
and to identify and onboard
potential new clients of the
Company

How we engage

Energy contracts signed in
2020 use 100% renewable
energy sources.
Continued drive to digital
correspondence with clients
and recycling of office
consumables.

19

Compliance with the principles of the QCA code
The Board have adopted the ten principles of the QCA code as an appropriate framework for a Company of our size and status.
The table below demonstrates how the Company have applied each of these principles:

QCA principle

AFH application of the principles

Deliver Growth

1. Establish a strategy and business model which
promote long term value for shareholders.

The board meets annually at the time of the budget to
review the strategy for the Company. Progress in the
context of the strategic direction and business model are
reviewed monthly with operational and management
updates being reported to demonstrate delivery and
progress. The strategy and business model is disseminated
to all staff and advisers and reinforced by senior
management.

2. Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs
and expectations.

The Directors’ are committed to open dialogue with the
Company’s shareholders via the AGM, roadshows, one to
one meetings and regular reporting to the market.

3. T ake into account wider stakeholder and social
responsibilities and their implications for
long-term success.

The board values the opinions of key stakeholders and
seeks to ensure that the views of the Company’s staff,
advisers, clients, suppliers and community are known, and
where appropriate to the strategic aims and success of the
business are acted upon.

4. Embed effective risk management, considering both
opportunities and threats, throughout the organisation.

The board, assisted by the Audit and Risk committees, is
ultimately responsible for overseeing the identification,
evaluation and management of risks facing the Company.
The board seeks to mitigate identified risks and to pass
commercial risks to 3rd parties, either contractually or
through insurance.
The management of both risks and opportunities constitute
a key element of the decision making process.

Maintain a dynamic management framework

5. M
 aintain the board as a well-functioning, balanced
team led by the Chairman.

6. E
 nsure that between them the directors have
the necessary up-to-date experience, skills
and capabilities.
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The board monitors its composition to ensure that it
maintains sufficient experience and skills to enable it to
pursue its strategic goals and manage the operational
requirements and challenges of the business. Led by the
Chairman, deliberations are not dominated by one person
but result from open dialogue involving all members of the
board.
The board reviews the composition of the directors to
ensure that individually they have the necessary up to
date experience and skills to manage the key operational
functions of the business and collectively the experience
and skill to establish and deliver the strategic direction
of the Company.

9. M
 aintain governance structures and processes that are
fit for purpose and support good decision-making
by the board.

The board reviews its governance framework at least
annually to ensure that its governance structures remain
appropriate and fit for purpose. This framework embeds
delegated responsibilities to enable informed decision
making by the Board.

Governance

8. Promote a corporate culture that is based on ethical
values and behaviours.

The board aims to lead by example and to make decisions
that are in the best interests of the business as a whole. The
culture is underpinned by a clear set of values which are
communicated both internally and externally and used as a
measure against which to measure individual performance.
The Directors believe that the main determinant of whether
a business behaves ethically and with integrity is the quality
of its people

Strategic Report

7. Evaluate board performance based on clear and
relevant objectives, seeking continuous improvement.

Assessment of the board’s performance and that of its
committees is undertaken by the Board as a whole,
led by the Company’s Chairman. The board reviews its
effectiveness and the need to refresh its membership by
reference to financial performance, adherence to budgets
and the overall growth of the company, taking account of
the opinions and insights of its auditors, Nominated Adviser,
broker, legal and other advisers.

Build Trust

The board ensures that all stakeholders are actively
engaged through the relevant areas of responsibility.
Further details of specific communication channels are
included on the Company’s website under the shareholder
and stakeholder engagement section.

Financial statements

10. C
 ommunicate how the company is governed
and is performing by maintaining a dialogue with
shareholders and other relevant stakeholders.

Notice to the AGM
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John Wheatley

Alan Hudson

Paul Wright

Non Executive Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Appointment date
2014

Appointment date
2011

Appointment date
2014

Experience
Partner KPMG

Experience
Founded AFH in 1991.

Experience
Qualified KPMG

Partner Price Pearson
Wheatley

Target Life

Exco International
Plc, Rolfe & Nolan Plc;
Workplace International
Plc

Skills brought to the board
Financial, Governance
in Financial services and
other sectors

Skills brought to the board
Chartered Financial
Planner,

Skills brought to the board
Financial and M&A in UK
and international markets.
Main market and AIM
experience

Sector experience
Various including
Financial Services

Sector experience
Financial Services

Sector experience
Financial Services,
Technology, Leisure

Committee membership
Audit (chairman)

Committee membership
Remuneration

Committee membership
Risk

Remuneration

Investment

Various NED appointments

Innovation and
entrepreneurship

Risk
Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
12 /1

22

Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
12 /1

Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
12 /1
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Sue Lewis

Mark Chambers

Group Head of Advice

NED

NED

Appointment date
2015

Appointment date
2015

Appointment date
2014

Appointment date
2014

Experience
Over 10 years regulatory
experience. CF10 status
under FCA.

Experience
Independent Financial
Adviser AFH

Experience
Former senior partner at,
and now consultant to,
Eversheds Sutherland

Experience
Head of Institutional
Sales and Head of Global
Banking Sales Man Group
Plc

Nationwide Building
Society

Financial statements

Austin Broad

Group Head of Risk

Governance

Alexis Larvin

Daiwa Europe Limited
County Nat West
Securities Limited
Skills brought to the board
Financial Planning and
Technical

Skills brought to the board
Legal and M&A

Skills brought to the board
Sales and Investment

Sector experience
Financial Services

Sector experience
Financial Services

Sector experience
Various including
Financial Services

Sector experience
Financial Services

Committee membership
Risk (chairman)

Committee membership
Investment

Committee membership
Remuneration (chairman)

Committee membership
Audit

Risk

Audit

Remuneration
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Skills brought to the board
Compliance and Risk

Investment
Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
11 /1

Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
12 /1

Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
12 /1

Number of Board
meetings/ Strategy
meetings attended
12 /1
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REPORT OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2020
The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review the remuneration of
the Executive Directors and approve policies for remuneration of other senior executives.
The Committee also monitors performance and approves the payment of all performance
related bonuses and administers the operation of the share option and share incentive
schemes established by the Group.
The Committee is chaired by Susan Lewis and comprises Susan Lewis, John Wheatley, Mark
Chambers and Alan Hudson.
The Committee members do not participate in any discussions in which they have an
interest.

Introduction

Benefits in kind

This Report describes how the Board has voluntarily applied
the QCA’s Principles of Good Governance relating to Director’s
remuneration. The report also provides the information required
to be reported on Directors’ remuneration under AIM Rule 19.

A range of taxable benefits are available to Executive Directors.
These benefits primarily comprise the provision of company
pension contribution, life assurance and private medical
insurance.

Remuneration policy
The policy is to provide remuneration packages for executive
directors which aim to attract and retain high quality
executives capable of achieving the Group’s objectives
and thereby enhance shareholder value. The performance
measurement of the Executive Directors and key members
of senior management and the determination of their annual
remuneration package is undertaken by the Committee.

Share option schemes
The Company has established approved and unapproved
share option schemes, in which the executive directors
may participate. Details are set out in note [x] to these
financial statements.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined
by the Board of Directors.

Pension arrangements

The following comprises the components of the remuneration of
all Executive Directors:

The group pays a defined contribution to the pension scheme
of certain Executive Directors. The individual pension schemes
are private and their assets are held separately from those
of the Group.

Salary
The base salaries of the Executive Directors are set at levels
considered to be appropriate when they enter into service
agreements with the Group. The base salaries are reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee annually and any increases
are awarded having regard to performance and salary levels in
comparable organisations.

Executive Directors’ contracts
Executive Directors are employed under service contracts
requiring a maximum of 12 months’ notice by the company.

Non-Executive Directors’ contracts
Annual performance related payments
It is the policy of the Company to operate bonus arrangements
for the Executive Directors which are performance related, the
primary measures being the achievement of financial targets
and personal performance.

24

The Chairman and the non-executive directors each receive
a fee for their services under appointment letters which are
for an initial period of 12 months and thereafter terminable by
3 months’ notice from either party. The fee is approved by the
Board, mindful of the time commitment and responsibilities
of their roles and of current market rates for comparable
organisations and appointments. The Non-Executive Directors
and the Chairman are reimbursed for travelling and other minor
expenses incurred.

Salary
£

Pension
Contribution
£

Benefits
in kind
£

Share based
payments
£

Total
2020
£

Total
2019
£

A Hudson

524,012

-

2,682

54,855

581,549

709,567

P Wright

228,660

-

2,990

18,089

249,739

320,786

A Broad

133,385

6,716

2,063

16,537

158,701

201,203

37,872

1,924

486

17,324

57,606

210,348

J Wheatley

52,262

-

-

-

52,262

55,315

M Chambers

41,921

-

-

-

41,921

44,210

41,921

-

-

-

41,921

44,210
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive Directors

Governance

A Larvin
Non-Executive Directors

S Lewis
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Directors’ beneficial interest in the Ordinary shares of the Company (which included those of their families) were as follows:

Shares
held at
Directors

1 Nov 2019

Share options
held at

Share Movements
during the year

Share Options
movements
during the year

1 Nov 2019

Total

31 Oct 2020

233,121

58,585

-

-

291,706

A Hudson

6,555,700

625,000

(600,000)

150,000

7,030,700

P Wright

35,000

432,000

-

50,000

517,000

M Chambers

58,223

10,000

19,910

-

88,133

S Lewis

-

35,000

-

-

35,000

A Broad

15,000

217,420

-

35,000

267,420

A Larvin

-

237,420

-

35,000

272,420

Notice to the AGM

J Wheatley

Notes
On 19 November 2019, Growth shares were issued to Alan Hudson, Chief Executive Officer, Paul Wright, Chief Finance Office, Austin Broad,
Group Head of Advice and Alex Larvin, Group Head of Risk.
On 24 January 2020, Alan Hudson, Chief Executive Officer, sold 600,000 Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each at a price of 383p per Ordinary Share.
On 2 March 2020 Mark Chambers, Non-Executive Director, purchased 7,309 Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each at a price of 342p per Ordinary Share.
On 23 March 2020 Mark Chambers, Non-Executive Director, purchased 12,601 Ordinary Shares of 10 pence each at a price of 198p per Ordinary Share.
Directors’ shareholdings include any shareholdings of trusts or family members deemed to be connected persons.
The mid-market price of the shares at 31 October 2020 was 298.5p. The range during the year was 427p to 203p.

25

INTEREST IN OPTIONS
The Group operates Share Option Plans by which the Executive Directors and other senior executives are able to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. The interests of the directors were as follows:

J Wheatley

A Hudson

P Wright

S Lewis

M Chambers
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Date granted

No. of ordinary
shares

Exercise price

Earliest date
exercisable

Latest date
exercisable

22 June 2011

13,585

37p

22 June 2014

21 June 2021

1 August 2012

5,000

100p

1 August 2015

31 July 2022

30 June 2014

25,000

140p

30 June 2017

29 June 2024

26 January 2016

15,000

171.5p

26 January 2019

25 January 2026

30 June 2014

150,000

140p

30 June 2017

29 June 2024

15 February 2016

100,000

180p

15 February 2019

14 February 2026

2 February 2017

100,000

173p

2 February 2020

1 February 2027

16 November 2017

125,000

250p

16 November 2020

15 November 2027

10 October 2018

150,000

394p

10 October 2021

9 October 2028

19 November 2019

150,000

301p

19 November 2022

18 November 2029

13 January 2014

125,000

120p

13 January 2017

12 January 2024

30 June 2014

56,973

140p

30 June 2017

29 June 2024

21 July 2014

68,027

147p

21 July 2017

20 July 2024

15 February 2016

60,000

180p

15 February 2019

14 February 2026

2 February 2017

32,000

173p

2 February 2020

1 February 2027

16 November 2017

40,000

250p

16 November 2020

15 November 2027

10 October 2018

50,000

394p

10 October 2021

9 October 2028

19 November 2019

50,000

301p

19 November 2022

18 November 2029

30 June 2014

25,000

140p

30 June 2017

29 June 2024

26 January 2016

10,000

171.5p

26 January 2019

25 January 2026

26 January 2016

10,000

171.5p

26 January 2019

25 January 2026

Date granted

A Broad

Earliest date
exercisable

Latest date
exercisable

37p

22 June 2015

21 June 2021

10,000

100p

1 August 2016

31 July 2022

13 January 2014

35,000

120p

13 January 2017

12 January 2024

1 November 2014

665

150.5p

1 November 2017

31 October 2024

15 February 2016

60,000

180p

15 February 2019

14 February 2026

2 February 2017

16,000

173p

2 February 2020

1 February 2027

16 November 2017

20,000

250p

16 November 2020

15 November 2027

10 October 2018

35,000

394p

10 October 2021

9 October 2028

35,000

301p

19 November 2022

18 November 2029

22 June 2015

21 June 2021

22 June 2011

Governance

40,755

1 August 2012

19 November 2019

A Larvin

Exercise price

37p

10,000

100p

1 August 2016

31 July 2022

13 January 2014

50,000

120p

13 January 2017

12 January 2024

1 November 2014

665

150.5p

1 November 2017

31 October 2024

15 February 2016

60,000

180p

15 February 2019

14 February 2026

2 February 2017

16,000

173p

2 February 2020

1 February 2027

16 November 2017

25,000

250p

16 November 2020

15 November 2027

10 October 2018

35,000

394p

10 October 2021

9 October 2028

35,000

301p

19 November 2022

18 November 2029

Any share options that do not meet the performance criteria are cancelled after three years.

Financial statements

40,755

1 August 2012

19 November 2019
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22 June 2011

No. of ordinary
shares

The Group Growth Share scheme is administered through AFH Group Limited. Except for the shares created under this scheme
which are convertible into share options in AFH Financial Group Plc and those noted above, no Director had any other beneficial
interest at the yearend in the shares of any other Group Company.
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 15 January 2021 and signed on its behalf by:
Notice to the AGM

Susan Lewis
Chairman
Remuneration Committee
15 January 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report and financial statements
for the year ended 31 October 2020.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group continued to be that of
independent financial advisers and investment managers.

Results and dividends
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year is set out on page [xx].
The amount that the directors recommend should be paid out
by way of dividends has been disclosed in the Strategic Report
on page [xx].

Future developments
The Group continues to focus on organic growth and generating
leads though strategic marketing campaigns to increase brand
awareness amongst the mass affluent population and to drive
revenue and profitability.
The Group continues to invest in its digital footprint, technology
including, to improve the service to both clients and AFH
advisers whilst enabling greater efficiency in its administration.
Digitalisation of both the advice and investment service is also
expected to open new market channels to future clients who
embrace digital and mobile technology.

Directors
The following directors have held office since
1 November 2019:

Mr A Hudson
Mr J Wheatley

Economic environment
As at the time of the signing of the financial statements the
global Covid-19 pandemic continues to impact on global stock
markets, short term business confidence and UK companies’
ability to continue normal trading conditions. We expect our
recurring revenue to be impacted by global stock markets
movements as the global pandemic continues to unfold,
however, many client assets are held in non-equity instruments
and the impact of the markets on revenue is considerably
diluted. The Directors are actively monitoring the position on a
regular basis and reviewing cash flow forecasts. Following this
crisis we expect there to be increased demand for financial
planning services alongside increased awareness of the
importance of protection based insurance.

Directors’ indemnities
The company has made qualifying third party indemnity
provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made during
the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

Evaluating Board Performance
At the current stage of the Group’s development, assessment
of the Board’s performance and that of its committees is
undertaken by the Board as a whole, led by the Company’s
Chairman. Although the Company has no formal procedure
for measuring the effectiveness of the Board, the Board will be
carefully reviewing its effectiveness and the need to refresh its
membership by reference to financial performance, adherence
to budgets and the overall growth of the Group and taking
account of the opinions and insights of its auditors, Nominated
Adviser, broker, legal and other advisers. The method of
assessing Board effectiveness and performance will be reviewed
on a continuing basis.

Matters covered in the Strategic Report and
Financial Statements

Mr P Wright
Mrs S Lewis
Mr M Chambers
Mr A Broad
Mrs A Larvin

Full disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the time of this report confirm that so
far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the company’s auditor is unaware and he / she has taken
all appropriate steps to make himself / herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s
auditor is aware of that information.
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As permitted by paragraph 1A of schedule 7 to the Large and
Medium Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 certain matters which are required to be
disclosed in the Directors Report have been omitted as they
are included in the Strategic Report on pages 4-21 and in notes
23 and 24 of the Financial Statements. These matters relate to
principal risks and uncertainties which have been disclosed in
the Strategic Report, Financial Risk Management which has been
disclosed in note 22, and Events subsequent to the Statement of
Financial Position which has been disclosed in note 24.

Corporate Governance Statement
The Corporate Governance Statement is published
on our external website.

The Group disclose their energy use and greenhouse gas emissions for which they are responsible in line with SECR requirements.
This is the first year of SECR reporting and is aligned with the financial year 01/11/2019 to 31/10/2020.
Current Year
2019-2020

Comparison Year
2018-2019

Scope

42,086

N/A

1

Converted to kWh (gross calorific value) taken
from bills for each location

561,142

N/A

2

Total kWh (gross calorific value) taken from bills
for each location

8

N/A

1

42,086kWh * 0.18387 (natural gas conversion
factor to tCO2e)

131

N/A

2

561,142kWh * 0.23314 (electrcity conversion factor
to tCO2e)

Scope 3 - Emissions Consumption
from
Business Travel (tCO2e)

N/A

N/A

3

Nil company vehicle usage

Total Emissions (tCO2e)

139

N/A

Intensity Ratio (Number of
Employees)

402

N/A

Total employees taken from Payroll October 2020

Total tCO2e / FTE

0.34

N/A

139 tCO2e / 402 employees

Energy Source
Energy Consumption Used to
Calculate Emissions

Strategic Report

Greenhouse Gas emissions

Comments &
Emission Calculations

Gas Heating Fuels (kWh)
Energy Consumption Used to
Calculate Emissions

Governance

Electricity (kWh)
Scope 1 - Emissions Combustion
from
Heating Fuels (tCO2e)
Scope 2 - Emissions from

Purchased Electricity (tCO2e)

Financial statements

The reported usage above relates to AFH Independent Financial Services ltd, the only entity required to report in line with SECR requirements

Methodology
The Green House Gas (GHG) Reporting Protocol – Corporate Standard has been followed to allow easy comparison with equivalent
organisational reporting. Carbon emissions are therefore reported as Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions. The report has also used the 2020
UK Government’s Conversion Factors for Company Reporting.

The Group has chosen to utilise an intensity metric that will support comparison to the baseline emissions in future years and will
hopefully also seek to measure its emissions against peers for transparency. The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross
emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per number of employees, the recommended ratio for the sector.

Energy Efficiency Actions
In the period covered by the report, the Group has implemented an Efficiency At Work policy which sets out how many aspects of
their energy usage can be reduced. Furthermore, the Group plans to instal LED lighting to various buildings. No formal targets have
been set at this point but it is expected to deliver reductions year-on-year as various elements of the policy are implemented.
Comparisons year-on-year will confirm the efficacy of the policy.
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Benchmarking and Intensity Metrics

Disabled employees

Principal activities

The Group gives full consideration to applications for
employment from disabled persons where the candidate’s
particular aptitudes and abilities are consistent with adequately
meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available
to disabled employees for training, career development and
promotion.

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report,
Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Company’s
policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable
in the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate
training to achieve this aim.

Employee Consultation
The Group involves employees in the running of the business
through a strategic board and senior management team that
works closely with management and staff members.
Employees are involved in an Employee forum where they can
contribute ideas towards ways to improve the business, staff
benefits and the working environment.
In line with government legislations the Group offers a
group wide pension scheme, where staff have the option
to opt out if they wish.

Auditors
A resolution proposing that Saffery Champness LLP be
reappointed as auditors of the Group and its Subsidiaries will be
put to the members at the Annual General Meeting.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
adopted by the European Union and applicable law. Under
company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or
loss of the company for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are
required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;
• make judgments and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;
• state whether IFRS as adopted by the European Union
have been followed subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements
• provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific
requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events
and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will
continue in business
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the company and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of the board.

Anne-Marie Brown
Secretary
15 January 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF AFH
FINANCIAL GROUP PLC
AFH FINANCIAL GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2020
Conclusions relating to going concern

We have audited the financial statements of AFH Financial
Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘group’) for the year ended 31 October 2020 which comprise
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Company
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Company
Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in
relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• g
 ive a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group
and of the parent company as at 31 October 2020 and of the
group’s profit for the period then ended;
• t he Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with IFRSs in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006;

• t he financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether
or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as
applied to SME listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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• t he Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice including Financial Reporting
Standard 101; and

• t he directors have not disclosed in the financial statements
any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the group’s or parent company’s ability to
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for
a period of at least twelve months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.
Financial statements

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• t he directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or

Governance

Opinion

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Going concern risk arising from Coronavirus pandemic

Our audit procedures included the following:

During the financial year the Covid-19 pandemic has had a
significant impact on economies around the world with global
financial markets heavily effected in the early stages.

• Obtaining the Board’s going concern assessment and detailed
cash flow forecasts and performing a critical review thereon;

The Group itself has of course been affected by the pandemic,
however management have taken appropriate steps to ensure
the Group remains profitable.
Despite the pandemic, revenue growth has continued and the
Group’s cost base has been controlled. Government schemes
such as furlough have been utilised as well as introduction of
staff salary reductions for a certain period of time. The growth
in revenue and cost control measures have led to an increase
in earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) for the year.
The global pandemic and the volatility of the global stock
markets can impact the directors assessment of going concern
for example in forecasting initial and recurring revenues during
periods of increased market fluctuation and projection of future
clawback and cancellation rates.

• Obtaining and assessing accuracy of data used in preparation of
the going concern assessment and cash flow forecasts;
• Performing sensitivity analysis on key assumptions and testing the
mathematical accuracy of forecasts;
• Challenging inputs to forecasts including comparison with
external data sources and market information;
• Considering the ongoing impact of Coronavirus upon going
concern and assessing the appropriateness of the related
disclosures in the financial statements.
Based on our procedures, we concur with the appropriateness of
the directors’ use of the going concern basis of preparation for the
Group’s financial statements and related disclosures.

Due to the uncertainty and potential significance of the
application of the going concern assumption, this is considered a
key audit matter.

Risk of material misstatement arising from revenue recognition

Our audit procedures included the following:

Revenue for the year was £77.1m, representing an increase on
the prior year of 3.8%.

• R
 eviewing the Group’s application of IFRS 15 and considering this
in detail by reference to the Group’s underlying contracts with
customers and performance conditions set out therein;

2020 was a year of unprecedented uncertainty. Significant
falls in the equity markets mid-year due to the Coronavirus
pandemic had short-term impacts on both initial and recurring
revenues, although subsequent recovery of the markets has
been observed. Disruption to operations resulting from the
government’s restrictions impacted new business revenues as
opportunities for advisors to engage with clients face-to-face
were reduced. Integration of businesses acquired in the previous
year contributed to maintain revenues from the financial advice
and investment management division.
New business levels in the protection division were boosted
by the uncertainty of the pandemic and increased customer
interest in protection insurance policies.
The group revenue comes from a number of different trading
activities which are recognised in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. An assessment is
made annually to ensure that it remains compliant and any
changes in contracts or engagements with clients is accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 15.
Due to the significance of revenue to the consolidated financial
statements, the first year of revenues from acquired businesses
or trading assets and the judgement involved in assessing the
impact of IFRS 15, revenue recognition is a key audit matter.
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• E
 valuating the Group’s revenue recognition policy and
management’s current year accounting assessment of the
consideration receivable based on the contracts entered into;
• Confirming the implementation of the Group’s policy to advisory
fee and protection income by performing walk through tests to
confirm our understanding of the process by which revenue is
calculated;
• Performing substantive tests on a sample basis and considering
revenue fluctuations throughout the year by reference to
expectations;
• Considering revenue cut-off and the basis for year-end contract
assets.
Based on our procedures, we consider that revenue recognition
has been recognised appropriately and is in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition policy and IFRS 15.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Risk of material misstatement arising from impairment of
goodwill, intangible assets and investments

Our audit procedures included the following:

The Group and Company Statements of Financial Position carry
a number of significant assets to which the Directors must apply
judgement in testing for impairment.
These include intangible assets of £98m in the Group and
£87m of intercompany loans within the Company. Impairment
assessments on both of these balances is performed by
reference to the current and forecast trading performance of
the Group’s trading subsidiaries. These impairment assessments
incorporate a range of assumptions and judgements, such as
revenue growth, client retention and discount rates.

The review resulted in a change to the goodwill on a number of
the acquisitions that took place over the last 12 months.
When determining the fair value of the goodwill and intangible
assets there are significant judgements being made which are
subjective and are determined by a number of factors.
Due to the potential significance and subjectivity of these
judgements to the Group and Company financial statements,
impairment of assets is a key audit matter.

The group holds £19.3m of contingent consideration on the
balance sheet and judgement must be applied as to whether
this is payable based on the targets set within the acquisition
agreements for asset purchases and share purchases.
To determine the performance of the assets purchased and the
business combinations the board on a monthly basis review their
performance.

Where stipulated in the SPA or APA if the year 1 target is not met
then the balance that remains outstanding for that year can be
rolled over.
Given the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic during the year, these
judgements are subject to further uncertainty, particularly in
respect of individual entities which have been impacted by the
pandemic and resulting volatility in the stock market.
Valuation of the deferred contingent consideration liabilities
requires management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the acquired client portfolio for the
calculation of the present value of those cash flows. This is
considered to be a critical accounting judgement.

• Challenging inputs to models including comparison with external
data sources;
• Reviewing the recoverability of intercompany loans within the
Company by reviewing and challenging the forecasts produced by
management;
• Assessing the appropriateness and completeness of the related
disclosures in Note 8 Intangible assets.
• Assessing and challenging the reasons for the re-measurement of
goodwill and intangible assets based on IFRS 3, looking specifically
at whether pre-existing events existed at the time of acquiring the
company or asset that have been determined post-acquisition.
Based on our procedures, we noted no material exceptions and
considered management’s key assumptions to be within reasonable
ranges.

Our audit procedures included the following:
• Reviewing a sample of completion accounts to confirm the agreed
targets that have been set and whether the balance of a missed
target can be rolled over;
• Testing payments of upfront cash and subsequent payments of
contingent consideration including post year end payments to
determine the year end balance;
• Reviewing board minutes and the finance acquisition report to
determine the current performance of the acquired asset or
company and the potential for a payment to be made;
• Considering directors assessments of the valuation of deferred
contingent consideration at the reporting date, including
judgements and estimates in connection with current trading
results, annualised income and EBITDA.
• Assessing and challenging the calculations to support the
Directors’ view that discounting of contingent consideration is
immaterial and evaluating the basis of the discount rate applied in
these calculations;
Based on our procedures, we noted no material exceptions and
considered management’s key assumptions to be within reasonable
ranges.

Due to the potential significance of these judgements to
the Group financial statements, valuation of contingent
consideration is a key audit matter.
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A finance acquisition report is produced for the board that looks
at actual and annualised results to ascertain if the targets that
has been set in the sales and purchase agreements (SPA) or
asset purchase agreements (APA) are met.

• Performing sensitivity analysis on key assumptions and testing the
mathematical accuracy of models;

Financial statements

Risk of material misstatement arising from valuation of deferred
contingent consideration

• Obtaining and assessing the accuracy of data used in impairment
assessments and analysing CGU value in use cash flows in
respect of forecast performance in light of current trading and
macroeconomic forecasts;

Governance

Management have during the year reviewed the fair value
measurement of the business combinations or assets that have
been acquired over the last 12 months.

• Obtaining the Board’s impairment assessments for goodwill, client
portfolio assets and intercompany receivables, and performing a
critical evaluation thereon;
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Key Audit Matter

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing
our audit, in evaluating the effect of any identified misstatements
and in forming our audit opinion. Our overall objective as
auditor is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. We consider a misstatement to
be material where it could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act
2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of
the audit:
• the information given in the Strategic Report and the
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements; and

We have determined a materiality of £770,000 for both the
Group and Company financial statements. This is based on 1%
of revenue per draft financial information at the planning stage.
We did not consider there to be any reason to revise materiality
during the audit.

• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

An overview of the scope of our audit

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group
and the parent company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we obtained
sufficient evidence to support our opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls and the industry
in which the Group operates.
As Group auditors we carried out an audit of the Company
financial statements and, in accordance with ISA (UK) 600,
obtained sufficient evidence regarding the audit of the Group’s
subsidiaries. All non-dormant subsidiaries within the group
were subject to a full-scope audit based on a standalone audit
materiality. All audited subsidiaries are owned 100% and are
consolidated into the Group financial statements.
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the Directors made
substantive judgements, for example in respect of the significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain. We also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the
Directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due
to fraud.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information; we
are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in
relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the parent company financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made; or
• w
 e have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities
Statement set out on page 28, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements

Strategic Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

Governance

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

Financial statements

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and
the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jamie Cassell (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Saffery Champness LLP

Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditors
Notice to the AGM

71 Queen Victoria Street
London
EC4V 4BE

15 January 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 October 2020

Note

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

2

77,128

74,337

Cost of sales

(38,827)

(34,657)

Gross profit

38,301

39,680

Revenue

Other operating income

156

Administrative expenses

(19,620)

(22,452)

18,837

17,228

EBITDA

–

Right of use asset depreciation charge

9

(779)

–

Underlying EBITDA

1

18,058

17,228

(3,734)

(3,189)

(168)

(50)

14,156

13,989

Other amortisation and depreciation
Non cash share-based payments
Operating profit

3

Finance income

4

29

57

Finance costs

4

(1,024)

(332)

13,161

13,714

(2,446)

(2,901)

10,715

10,813

–

–

10,715

10,813

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

6

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
owners of the parent
Earnings per share (in pence)
Basic

18

25.0

25.4

Diluted

18

23.0

23.5

Basic

18

34.1

32.8

Diluted

18

31.4

30.4

Underlying EBITDA adjusted for tax per share (in pence)

All results derive from continuing operations.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 October 2020

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Intangible assets

8

98,330

104,921

Property, plant and equipment

9

1,426

1,413

Right of use assets

9

4,528

–

Assets
Non-current assets

10

1

1

Deferred tax asset

15

15

23

104,300

106,358

29,760

26,232

13,111

11,955

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

12

Cash and cash equivalents

42,871

38,187

147,171

144,545

14

22,661

23,373

–

1,224

Provisions

17

1,923

1,448

Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

81

832

Lease liabilities

16

760

–

25,425

26,877

17,446

11,310

Total assets

Governance

Investments
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Note

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Current tax liabilities

Net current assets

Financial statement

Trade and other payables

Non-current liabilities
14

4,181

23,467

Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

25,783

15,241

Provisions

17

249

161

Lease liabilities

16

3,907

–

34,120

38,869

Total liabilities

59,545

65,746

Net assets

87,626

78,799

Shareholders' equity
Share capital

18

4,298

4,279

Share premium account

19

56,280

55,986

Treasury shares

19

–

(204)

Merger reserve

19

(540)

(540)

Share-based payment reserve

19

936

768

Retained earnings

26,652

18,510

Total Shareholders' equity

87,626

78,799

Approved by the Board of Directors on 15 January 2021.
Mr P K Wright
Director

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2020
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Trade and other payables

Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 October 2020

Note

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

10

1,972

1,972

1,972

1,972

87,525

77,568

3,636

6,034

91,161

83,602

93,133

85,574

891

1,424

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

12

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14

Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

Net current assets

–

752

891

2,176

90,270

81,426

25,600

15,000

26,491

17,176

66,642

68,398

Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities – Borrowings

13

Total liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders' equity
Share capital

18

4,298

4,279

Share premium account

19

56,280

55,986

Treasury shares

19

–

(204)

Share-based payment reserve

19

936

768

5,128

7,569

66,642

68,398

Retained earnings
Total Shareholders' equity
The Company profit for the year was £132,336 (2019: £6,730,250)
Approved by the Board of Directors on 15 January 2021.
Mr P K Wright
Director
Company Number – 07638831
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 31 October 2020

Retained
earnings
£’000

Total
£’000

(540)

718

10,403

69,420

–

–

–

10,813

10,813

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,813

10,813

Issue of share capital (net of issue costs)

81

1,345

–

–

–

–

1,426

Share based payment cost – note 18

–

–

–

–

50

–

50

Acquisition of treasury shares

–

–

(204)

–

–

–

(204)

Dividend

–

–

–

–

–

(2,706)

(2,706)

4,279

55,986

(204)

(540)

768

18,510

78,799

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

10,715

10,715

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Share capital
£’000

Treasury
shares
£’000

4,198

54,641

–

Profit for the year

–

–

Other comprehensive income

–

Total comprehensive income

Balance at 1 November 2018

Balance at 31 October 2019

Merger
reserve
£’000

–

–

–

–

–

10,715

10,715

Issue of share capital (net of issue costs)

19

294

–

–

–

–

313

Share based payment cost – note 18

–

–

–

–

168

–

168

Sale of treasury shares

–

–

204

–

–

–

204

Dividend

–

–

–

–

–

(2,573)

(2,573)

4,298

56,280

–

(540)

936

26,652

87,626

Balance at 31 October 2020

Financial statement

Total comprehensive income

Governance

Share-based
payment
reserve
£’000

Share
premium
£’000
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of changes in equity
As at 31 October 2020
Company only Statement of changes in equity

Balance at 1 November 2018

Treasury shares
£’000

Retained
earnings
£’000

Total
£’000

4,198

54,641

–

718

3,394

62,951

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

6,730

6,730

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

6,730

6,730

Issue of share capital (net of issue costs)

81

1,345

–

–

–

1,426

Share based payment cost – note 18

–

–

–

50

–

Acquisition of treasury shares

–

–

(204)

–

Dividend

–

–

–

–

(2,555)

(2,555)

4,279

55,986

(204)

768

7,569

68,398

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

132

132

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

–

Balance at 31 October 2019

50
(204)

Total comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

132

132

Issue of share capital (net of issue costs)

19

294

–

–

–

313

Share based payment cost – note 18

–

–

–

168

–

168

Sale of treasury shares

–

–

204

–

–

204

Dividend

–

–

–

–

(2,573)

(2,573)

4,298

56,280

–

936

5,128

66,642

Balance at 31 October 2020

AFH Financial Group Report and Accounts 2020
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Share capital Share premium
£’000
£’000

Share-based
payment
reserve
£’000

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 October 2020

Note

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

21

14,498

5,787

(3,331)

(2,608)

11,167

3,179

(788)

(834)

(2,087)

(3,830)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Tax paid
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets, net of cash
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash

–

(9,378)

Payment of contingent consideration

(13,611)

(8,007)

29

57

(16,457)

(21,992)

Proceeds from issue of shares

–

–

Share issue costs

–

–

Proceeds from CULS

–

15,000

12,000

–

–

(536)

(2,053)

(2,314)

(778)

(219)

(2,723)

(2,706)

6,446

9,225

1,156

(9,588)

11,955

21,543

13,111

11,955

Interest received
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from HSBC Facility agreement
Issue costs
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Dividends
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 October 2020

AFH Financial Group PLC is a public limited company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales
under the Companies Act 2006 and is registered at AFH House, Buntsford Drive, Stoke Heath, Bromsgrove,
Worcestershire, B60 4JE.
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of independent financial advice and investment management
to the retail market.

Strategic Report

1. General Information

This financial information has been prepared for the year ended 31 October 2020.

1.1 Principal accounting policies
The consolidated financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretation Committee Interpretations in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Governance

(a) Basis of preparation

The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework” (“FRS 101”) and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies
Act 2006. Except for certain disclosure exemptions detailed below, the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards have been applied to these financial statements and,
where necessary, amendments have been made in order to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and The Large
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups Regulations 2008/410 (‘Regulations’).

The financial information has been prepared in Sterling.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been applied consistently.
The company has taken advantage of the following exemptions in preparing these financial statements, as
permitted by FRS101 paragraph 8:

Financial statement

The company financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention.

(i)	The requirement of IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ relating to the disclosure of financial instruments
and the nature and extent of risks arising from such instruments;
(ii)	The requirement of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ paragraph 91 to 99 relating to the fair value measurement
disclosure of financial assets and financial liabilities that are measure at fair value;

(iv)	The requirement of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraphs 134 to 136 relating to the disclosure
of capital management policies and objectives;
(v)	The requirements of IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ and IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ paragraph
10(d); 111 relating to the presentation of a Cash Flow Statement;
(vi)	The requirements of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ relating to the disclosure of key management personnel
compensation and relating to the disclosure of related party transactions entered into between the company
and other wholly-owned subsidiaries of the group.
(b) Going Concern
As at the time of the signing of the financial statements the global Covid-19 epidemic continues to impact the
Group. Stock Markets have seen volatility and the impact of Government legislation impacting short term business
confidence and companies’ ability to continue normal trading conditions. As noted in the CEO report, as a Group
we have adapted during a difficult period and maintained the Group EBITDA margin while revenues remained
relatively static. Most client assets are held diversified portfolios and the impact of the markets on recurring
revenue has been considerably diluted.
The directors have considered the Group’s anticipated business activities, its cash flows and capital position for a
period of 12 months from the date of these accounts. They believe that even in the current lockdown and without
organic growth the group can continue to trade profitably and maintains sufficient facilities to cover its short and
long-term liabilities. This assessment has been stress tested for lower than anticipated revenues.
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(iii)	The requirements of IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ paragraph 30
and 31 relating to the disclosure of standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective;

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
Therefore, the directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to for the foreseeable future and for
this reason continue to adopt the Going Concern basis in preparing the financial information.
(c) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All intra-Group balances, income and
expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in full.
Control is achieved when the company has the power over the investee; is exposed or has rights to variable
return from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.
(d) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method except for group reorganisations where
the combination is on a share for share basis and the resulting business remains unchanged. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. A review is undertaken at the first anniversary, to
adjust the provisional amounts recognised on acquisition to reflect new information obtained during the period
about circumstances existing at the date of acquisition which if known would affected the measurement of the
amounts recognised.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred, whether in cash or another financial instrument such as a
convertible loan note, is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with
IFRS 3. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
(e) Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the separable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary or an interest in
an associate undertaking recognised at the date of acquisition. Subsequent remeasurement to the goodwill is
recorded against the future contingent consideration in the first year of acquisition where additional information
on pre-existing facts and circumstances at the point of acquisition is obtained.
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses on an annual basis. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and is not subsequently reversed.
The single cash generating unit to which Goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the cash generating unit, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit.
The cost of intangible assets, excluding goodwill acquired in a business combination, is fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets assessed as having finite lives are amortised over their useful economic life.
Where the contractual consideration for the intangible asset varies to the amount paid in the future periods, the
difference is written off through Administrative Expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Intangible assets assessed as having finite lives are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year end.
Intangible assets are amortised over the following periods:
•

Other intangibles – 10 years from the month of acquisition unless otherwise impaired.

•

Acquired client portfolios – 20 years from the month of acquisition unless otherwise impaired.
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(f) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in
value. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write each asset down
to its estimated residual value over its expected useful life as follows:
Computer and office equipment at 20-25% per annum on cost

•

Fixtures and fittings at 20% per annum on cost

•

Freehold land – no charge

•

Freehold land improvement at 12.5% per annum on cost

•

Right of use assets at the lower of lease term and useful economic life

Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year the
asset is disposed of. The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year end.

Governance

•

Strategic Report

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised within Administrative Expenses in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(g) Investments
Investments comprise investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures. These investments are stated at cost, less
provision for impairment.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense over the life of the instrument.
(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at banks and in hand and shortterm deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Financial statement

(h) Borrowing costs

(j) Share based payments

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on
which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(“the vesting date”). Fair value is determined using the Black Scholes pricing model.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The Statement of Comprehensive Income charge or credit for a period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. No
expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted
earnings per share.
(k) Revenue recognition
Revenue across the group is recognised in line with the requirements of IFRS 15 as contractual performance
obligations are satisfied, as noted below by revenue stream. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received adjusted for clawbacks, allowance for impairment, discounts, rebates, and other sales
taxes or duty.
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Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share based payment
transactions for services provided as consideration for equity instruments (“equity settled transactions”).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
—

Initial Fee income

Fees are recognised as earned at the point when financial advice is provided.
—

Ongoing Fee income

Fees are recognised as and when fees from the management of investments are earned.
—

Investment management

Revenue is recognised as gross earned for the value of FUM held within the month.
—

Protection income (indemnified)

Revenue is recognised as earned as the policy goes live and the fees from the policy are due. This income is
recorded net of clawback provision.
—

Protection income (non-indemnified)

Revenue is recognised as earned as the policy goes live and the fees from the policy are due collected irrespective
of the payment profile. This income is recorded net of allowance for impairment.
—

Other income

Income received in relation to the Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme is recognised as earned at
the end of the relevant month in which the Furlough pay has been issued to the employees. The income is offset
against the relevant Administrative expenses.
—

Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method that is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset).
(l) Taxation
The taxation expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.
Tax payable is measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities. The
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.
Tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
(m) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax balances
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except where the deferred tax balance arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred income tax asset to be
recovered.
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(n) Sales tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:
•

Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
as applicable; and

•

Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised in the accounting period in which the
dividends are declared and paid, or if earlier, in the accounting period when the dividend is approved by the
Company’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Governance

(o) Dividend recognition

Strategic Report

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

(p) Changes in accounting policies
Standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 November 2019

Standard

Effective date,
annual period beginning on
or after

1 January 2020

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations

1 January 2020

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material

1 January 2020

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7

1 January 2020

Covid 19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases)

1 June 2020

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)

1 January 2021

Updating a Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to
IFRS 3 Business Combinations)

1 January 2022

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
(Amendments to IAS 16)

1 January 2022

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets)

1 January 2022

Annual improvements 2018-2020 cycle

1 January 2022

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current: amendments to IAS 1

1 January 2023

IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

1 January 2023

Amendments to IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts;
and Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9
(Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts)

1 January 2023

The directors are evaluating the impact that these standards will have on the financial statements of the Group.
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Conceptual Framework and Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards

Financial statement

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations relevant to
the Group and which have not been applied in these financial statements, were in issue but were not yet effective.
In some cases, these standards and guidance have not been endorsed for use in the European Union including at
30 September 2020, Covid 19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases). However, the FRC has
confirmed that it will not pursue regulatory action where this amendment is applied before the date of adoption
by the EU.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
IFRS 16 Adoption
The Group has adopted IFRS 16 from 1 November 2019 but it has not restated comparatives for the prior reporting
period, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the
adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening Statement of Financial
Position on 1 November 2019.
In adopting IFRS 16, the group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:
•

the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

•

reliance on previous assessments of whether leases are onerous;

•

the accounting for operating leases, with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 November
2019, as short-term leases;

•

the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application; and

•

the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate
the lease.

The group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of initial application.
Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date, the group relied on its assessment made in applying
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4, ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’.
On adoption of IFRS 16, the group recognised lease liabilities which had previously been classified as operating
leases under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. The lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities
on 1 November 2019 was based on comparable loan interest rates in the relevant jurisdiction where the lease is
operable.
£’000

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 October 2019
Extension of property lease
Lease liability recognised as at 1 November 2019

4,196
907
5,103

Of which:
   Current lease liabilities

779

   Non-current lease liabilities

4,324

Lease liability recognised as at 1 November 2019

5,103

Lease Liabilities
The Liability value for the leases were measured at the amount equal to the outstanding value of the lease
contracts meeting the IFRS16 criteria. The Group has used the prudent approach of displaying the full, nondiscounted lease liability.
Right of use assets
Right-of-use assets for these leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability as at the IFRS16
adoption date. There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application. Right of use assets are depreciated over the lease term.
(q) Financial instruments
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market are classified as `loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Impairment of financial assets

Strategic Report

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
the interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets, other than those at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), are assessed for indicators of
impairment at each reporting end date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity.

Governance

Derecognition of financial assets

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired.

Financial statement

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a Going Concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group monitors capital by maintaining or adjusting the capital structure by adjusting the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issuing new shares and unsecured securities or selling assets to maintain financial resources.
The capital employed by the Group is composed of equity attributable to the shareholders and long term
unsecured corporate bonds, as detailed in the Statement of Changes in Equity.
The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity comprising share
capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Company reviews the capital structure annually and as part of this
review considers that cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Fair value estimation
The net book amount less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.
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Capital risk management

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

1.1 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(r) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The application of the Group’s accounting policies requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making judgements about net book values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. If in the future such estimates and assumptions deviate
from actual circumstances, the original estimates and assumptions will be modified as appropriate in the period
in which the circumstances change.
The areas where a higher degree of judgement or complexity arises, or where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the Consolidated Financial Statements, are discussed below.
Impairment of client portfolios
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that the carrying value may be
impaired. Where such an indication is identified the client portfolios are tested for impairment. This comprises an
estimation of the fair value less cost to sell and the value in use of the acquired client portfolios. The key assumption
used in arriving at a value in use is based on future expected earnings based on funds under management. Future
earnings streams for each cash generating unit is then discounted over a finite period to calculate the fair value.
The assumptions used by the Group have been determined by looking at valuations of similar businesses and the
consideration paid in comparable transactions.
Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit are discounted to their present
value using the Group’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for tax. Impairment of £2.1m was made during
the year (2019: £nil) based upon the Directors’ review.
Contingent consideration
The Group has entered into certain acquisition agreements that provide for a contingent consideration to be paid.
The Group recognised all amounts management anticipates will be paid in full under the relevant acquisition
agreement taking into account the contractual performance targets. This requires management to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the acquired client portfolio for the calculation of the present
value of those cash flows.
The contingent consideration is subject to an earn-out based on future turnover of acquisitions over a period up
to a four year period. The carrying amount of contingent consideration provided for at 31 October 2020 is £19.3m
(2019 – £37.9m).
Acquisitions
The Group’s business model is to make acquisitions through the direct purchase of the customer contracts or via
the acquisition of the share capital of legal entities.
Judgement is required by management in the interpretation of IFRS 3 for each share-based customer contract
transaction.
The directors of the Group assess for each acquisition, in line with IFRS 3 Appendix B, whether the share transactions
constitute business combinations’ or are in substance asset purchases. In making their judgement, the directors
consider all factors within IFRS 3 Appendix B Paragraphs B7 through to B12.
After assessment, the directors conclude whether each transaction is an asset purchases or a business combination
for financial reporting purposes.
The Directors continue to assess the impact of information gathered during the measurement period and where
such information affects the facts and circumstances in existence at the acquisition date an adjustment is reflected
under IFRS 3.
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The directors have reviewed the Group wide cost of borrowing to assess the valuation method of the CULS, by
considering the cost of borrowing an equivalent facility without the convertible element attached. The directors
believe that the cost of borrowing to be the same as the CULS due to the premium attached to the option in
comparison to the share price at the date of issue. Therefore, the directors have treated the CULS as debt with no
equity attached.
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Cost of borrowing

(s) Alternative performance measures
The Group reports two Alternative performance measures being:
Underlying EBITDA – EBITDA adjusted for Share Based Payment costs and the impact of implementing IFRS 16.

•

Underlying EBITDA adjusted for tax is underlying EBITDA less a current tax charge of 19%.

Governance

•

Included in the Interest element of EBITDA is all Group wide financing costs.

2. Revenue and segmental analysis
The Board of Directors is considered to be the chief operating decision maker of the Group.
Segmental statement of comprehensive income
The segments are set out within the strategic report on page 10. The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results from continuing operations by reportable segment.

Total
2020
£’000

–

59,995

17,133

77,128

Cost of sales

(23)

(28,091)

(10,713)

(38,827)

Gross profit

(23)

31,904

6,420

38,301

Other operating income

156

–

–

156

Administrative expenses before amortisation
and depreciation and share based payments
expenses

(2,391)

(15,405)

(1,824)

(19,620)

EBITDA

(2,258)

16,499

4,596

18,837

–

(4,486)

(27)

(4,513)

(168)

–

–

(168)

Operating profit

(2,426)

12,013

4,569

14,156

Finance income

29

–

–

29

Revenue

Amortisation and Depreciation
Non cash share based payments

Finance costs

(1,024)

–

–

(1,024)

Profit before tax

(3,421)

12,013

4,569

13,161
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Protection
2020
£’000

Financial statement

Head Office
2020
£’000

Financial Advice
and Investment
Management
2020
£’000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

2. Revenue and segmental analysis (continued)
Head Office
2019
£’000

Financial Advice
and Investment
Management
2019
£’000

Protection
2019
£’000

Total
2019
£’000

Revenue

–

60,114

14,223

74,337

Cost of sales

–

(28,099)

(6,558)

(34,657)

Gross profit

–

32,015

7,665

39,680

Administrative expenses before amortisation
and depreciation and share based payments
expenses

(2,374)

(17,784)

(2,294)

(22,452)

EBITDA

(2,374)

14,231

5,371

17,228

–

(3,119)

(70)

(3,189)

(50)

–

–

(50)

(2,424)

11,112

5,301

13,989

Amortisation and Depreciation
Non cash share based payments
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Profit before tax

41

16

–

57

(317)

(15)

–

(332)

(2,700)

11,113

5,301

13,714

Segment revenue reported above represents only revenue generated from external customers. Intersegmental
sales in the financial year were £1,272,986 for management recharges from head office to the Financial Advisory
and Protection Divisions (2019: £1,093,343). There were also £571,373 (2019: £497,333) of intersegmental sales
for the introduction of business between the Financial Advisory and Protection Divisions. These intersegmental
revenues and costs have been removed on consolidation.
The Accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 1.
Segmental Assets
The following is an analysis of the Group’s Assets from continuing operations by reportable segment.
2020
£’000

Head Office

2019
£’000

6,250

6,638

Financial Advice and Investment Management

16,958

13,120

Protection

19,663

18,429

42,871

38,187

Segmental Liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s Liabilities from continuing operations by reportable segment.

Head Office
Financial Advice and Investment Management
Protection

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

1,793

546

21,240

18,335

2,392

7,996

25,425

26,887

The total revenue of the Group for the year has been derived from its activities wholly undertaken in the United
Kingdom.
No customer is defined as a major customer by revenue, contributing more than 10% of the Group revenues
(2019 – none).
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2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Employee benefit expenses – see note 5

18,760

19,741

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets

Operating profit is stated after charging:
3,205

2,820

Depreciation of Property, plant & equipment

529

369

Depreciation of Right of use assets

779

–

–

826

Operating lease rentals

A summary of the audit and non-audit fees in respect of services provided by the Group’s auditors charged to
operating profit is set out below:
2019
£’000

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor for the audit of the Group’s annual
accounts

23

23

Audit of accounts of subsidiaries

70

70

Total Audit Fees

93

93

Other assurance services

2

2

Taxation services *

–

7

Total Non-Audit Fees

2

9

* Taxation services no longer fall into scope of the Group’s auditors.

Financial statement

2020
£’000

Governance

Services provided by the Group’s auditors:

Strategic Report

3. Operating Profit

Notice to the AGM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

4. Finance
Finance costs
2020
£’000

2019
£’000

On CULS

706

172

Other Loan Interest

179

160

Interest charge on right of use assets

139

–

1,024

332

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

29

57

29

57

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

15,634

16,684

Social security costs

1,485

1,655

Other pension costs

1,473

1,352

168

50

18,760

19,741

Loan interest

Finance income

Bank interest

5. Employees
Employee costs (including salaried directors) for the Group were as follows:

Wages and salaries

Share based payments

Wages and salaries are reported net of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme of £883,163.
The average number of employees (including directors) during the year were as follows:
2020
Number

2019
Number

7

7

Office

532

520

Total

539

527

Directors

Key management personnel are those people having authority and responsibility for planning, directions and
controlling the activities of the Group. The board consider that the Directors comprise key management personnel
of the Company. Their remuneration during the year was as follows: salaries including bonuses were £1,060,033
(2019: £1,548,000), pension contributions were £8,640 (2019: £14,500), benefits in kind were £8,221 (2019: 8,469)
and share based payments were £106,805 (2019: £14,666)
Details of Directors’ remuneration including share based payments made to directors during the years ended
31 October 2020 and 31 October 2019 are disclosed in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on page 25.
The highest paid Director received remuneration of £581,549 (2019: £709,567)
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2020
£’000

2019
£’000

2,438

2,894

8

7

2,446

2,901

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

13,161

13,714

2,501

2,606

Current tax
– Current year

Strategic Report

6. Income tax expense

Deferred tax
– Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Reconciliation of profit before tax to total tax expense for the year:

Profit before income tax multiplied by the rate of
Corporation tax in the UK 19% (2020), 19% (2019)

Governance

Profit before tax

Effect of:
Non-deductible (income)/expenses
Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

(55)

295
2,901

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

2,573

2,555

6p

6p

7. Dividends – Company
Ordinary interim paid
Dividend per share

Financial statement

2,446

It is the Board’s intention to maintain the 2020 level of dividend and will pay a first interim dividend of 3p on
16 February 2021 to shareholders on the register of members at the close of business on 29 January 2021, the
ex‑dividend date is 28 January 2021, and pay a second interim dividend in July 2021. This second interim dividend
will be reviewed in the light of the country being released from the current lockdown restrictions and the impact
on trading during the first half of 2021.
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Notice to the AGM

The group is proposing, pending AGM approval, an interim dividend based on the reported results of 3p per share,
which equates £1,289,445 based on the current shares in circulation.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

8. Intangible assets
Other intangibles
£’000

Goodwill
£’000

Acquired client
portfolios
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 November 2018

546

28,405

52,331

81,282

Additions, separately acquired

Cost
336

–

11,038

11,374

Additions, through business combination

31

22,428

–

22, 459

Remeasurement

–

(1,020)

–

(1,020)

At 31 October 2019

913

49,813

63,369

114,095

Additions, separately acquired

220

–

1,498

1,718

Additions, through business combination

–

–

–

–

Remeasurement (Note 11b)

–

(3,000)

–

(3,000)

Impairment

–

(2,104)

–

(2,104)

1,133

44,709

64,867

110,709

At 1 November 2018

57

375

5,922

6,354

Charge for the year

60

–

2,760

2,820

At 31 October 2019

117

375

8,682

9,174

Charge for the year

127

–

3,078

3,205

At 31 October 2020

244

375

11,760

12,379

At 31 October 2020
Amortisation and impairment

Net book value
At 31 October 2020

889

44,334

53,107

98,330

At 31 October 2019

796

49,438

54,687

104,921

Goodwill and acquired client portfolios
Goodwill believed to have an indefinite useful life is carried at cost. The determination of whether goodwill is
impaired requires an assessment of the value in use. The recoverable amount of goodwill on a value in use
calculation is based on the discounted cash flows expected from the intangible assets of each acquisition,
assuming a future growth rate of 3% in revenue generated cash flows, discounted at an asset specific rate of 3%,
for a period of 10 years with no annuity. On this basis the directors believe the value of goodwill is not impaired at
31 October 2020.
The Directors have assessed those assets where an indicator of impairment is raised and applied appropriate
sensitivity of the assumptions detailed above and consider that the indicator only exists due to the level of
prudence already factored in to these assumptions. The impairment charge of £2.1m is offset against a £2.1m
reduction in contingent consideration. The impairment is based on the directors’ detailed review of expected
future cashflows of relevant CGU’s.
Due to the level of prudence already factored into the assumptions, it would require a significant adverse variance
in any of these to reduce the fair value to a level where it matched the carrying value.
During the year ended 31 October 2020 two acquisitions were undertaken relating to acquired client portfolios.
Consideration for these acquisitions amounted to £1.5m. Included within the total consideration are amounts
relating to contingent consideration of £1.3m. The contingent consideration is subject to earn outs based on
future turnover over a period up to a four-year period.
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9. Tangible fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment
Group
Freehold land and
improvements
£’000

Computer and office
equipment
£’000

Fixtures, fittings &
equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost
At 1 November 2018

816

583

2,110

–

345

207

552

Disposals

–

–

–

–

711

1,161

790

2,662

–

248

294

542

At 31 October 2019
Additions
Disposals

–

–

–

–

711

1,409

1,084

3,204

At 1 November 2018

93

517

270

880

Charge for the year

33

181

155

369

At 31 October 2020

Governance

711

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

–

–

–

126

698

425

1,249

Charge for the year

30

220

279

529

–

–

–

–

156

918

704

1,778

Disposals
At 31 October 2020
Net book value
At 31 October 2020

555

491

380

1,426

At 31 October 2019

585

463

365

1,413

Financial statement

–

At 31 October 2019

Included in freehold land and improvements is £460,000 of land that has an indefinite useful life.

Right of use assets
Group
IT equipment
£’000

Other office
equipment
£’000

Property
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost
At 1 November 2019

182

18

4,903

5,103

Additions

–

–

204

204

Disposals

–

–

–

–

182

18

5,107

5,307

At 1 November 2019

–

–

–

–

Charge for the year

69

6

704

779

–

–

–

–

69

6

704

779

At 31 October 2020

113

12

4,403

4,528

At 1 November 2019

182

18

4,903

5,103

At 31 October 2020
Depreciation

Disposals
At 31 October 2020
Net book value
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The £460,000 of Freehold Land is secured against the mortgage disclosed in note 13.
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10. Investments
Group
Shares in group
undertakings

Cost
At 1 November 2018

1

Additions

–

Disposals

–

At 31 October 2019

1

Additions

–

Disposals

–

At 31 October 2020

1

Net book value
At 31 October 2020

1

At 31 October 2019

1

The Shares in group undertakings represent certain subsidiary companies and joint ventures that have not been
consolidated into the Group on the grounds of being immaterial.
Company
Fixed assets investments
Shares in group
undertakings
£’000

Cost
At 1 November 2018

1,972

Additions

–

Disposals

–

At 31 October 2019

1,972

Additions

–

Disposals

–

At 31 October 2020

1,972

Net book value
At 31 October 2020

1,972

At 31 October 2019

1,972

In the opinion of the directors, the aggregate value of the company’s investment in subsidiary undertakings is not
less than the amount included in the balance sheet.
Please see note 25 for the details supporting the shares in group undertakings.

11. Business Combinations
a.

Acquisitions in the financial year ended 31 October 2020

There were no business combinations in the 2020 financial year.
b.

Acquisitions in the financial year ended 31 October 2019

A review has been undertaken of the business combinations where the fair value of assets and liabilities, including
goodwill, were not finalised at the date of acquisition due to pre-existing conditions. During the financial year
we were able to determine the final value resulting in a remeasurement of £3.0m of which £2.0m related to
one acquisition. Any remeasurements of assets and liabilities, including goodwill, have been remeasured in the
financial year and recorded where appropriate.
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Group

Trade receivables net of allowance for impairment
Other receivables
Prepayments

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

25,184

21,592

2,763

3,087

1,813

1,553

29,760

26,232
Governance

Included in trade receivables is £8,068,824 of debtors due in relation to non-indemnified income earnt collectable
over a 4 year term (2019: £10,278,822) which is net of a £314,003 allowance for impairment (2019: £1,412,368)
£6,271,614 of this trade receivable is due in greater than 1 year and collected over the life of the policy
(2019: £7,033,971). The effect of discounting the trade receivable due in greater than 1 year would be a reduction
of £380,004 to net assets (2019: £440,418).
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12. Trade and other receivables

Company

Amounts owed by Group Companies
Other receivables

2019
£’000

86,932

77,464

18

–

575

104

87,525

77,568

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

–

752

4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock

13,600

15,000

HSBC Facility agreement

12,000

–

264

321

25,864

16,073

8% Unsecured bonds

–

752

Mortgage on freehold property

81

80

81

832

4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock

13,600

15,000

HSBC Facility agreement

12,000

–

183

241

25,783

15,241

There are no bad or doubtful receivables.

13. Borrowings

Financial statement

Prepayments

2020
£’000

Group

8% Unsecured bonds

Analysis of borrowings
Current borrowings

Non-current borrowings

Mortgage on freehold property
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Mortgage on freehold property

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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13. Borrowings (continued)
The borrowings are recognised at amortised cost. There is no material difference between the fair value and the
carrying value.
The 8% unsecured bond issued in August 2013 was settled in the year.
The mortgage is repayable by instalments over an 8-year period with an interest rate of 2.9% over LIBOR. £460,000
of Freehold Land is secured against this liability.
The 4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks (CULS) were issued in July 2019 and are due for redemption or
conversion in 5 years.
During the year, CULS with a value of £1.4m were purchased by the company, resulting in a profit of £155,512
recognised under Other operating income in the Statement of Profit & Loss.
The HSBC Facility agreement has a cap of £12m of which interest is charged at 2.75% over LIBOR. The facility is a
revolving facility. Covenant reporting is undertaken quarterly with the Group adhering to these.
Company
2020
£’000

2019
£’000

–

752

4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock

13,600

15,000

HSBC Facility agreement

12,000

–

25,600

15,752

–

752

–

752

4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock

13,600

15,000

HSBC Facility agreement

12,000

–

25,600

15,000

8% Unsecured bonds

Analysis of borrowings
Current borrowings
8% Unsecured bonds
Non-current borrowings
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Group
2019
£’000

978

1,853

Contingent consideration

15,212

14,433

Commissions payable

5,556

5,357

Other payables

401

745

Accruals

514

985

22,661

23,373

4,181

23,467

Current
Trade payables

Non-current
Contingent consideration

Governance

2020
£’000

Strategic Report

14. Trade and other payables

The effect off discounting the non-current contingent consideration would be a reduction in the carrying value
of £121,036.
A remeasurement of contingent consideration was recorded within the year against the appropriate Goodwill/
Intangible, see note 8 & 11.

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

Current
Trade payables
Amounts owing to group undertakings
Other payables
Accruals

–

129

502

577

47

48

342

670

891

1,424

Financial statement

Company

Notice to the AGM
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15. Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset
Balance at 1 November 2018

30

Charge to profit or loss

7

Balance at 31 October 2019

23

Charge to profit or loss

8

Balance at 31 October 2020

15

The deferred tax asset is made up as follows:
2020
£’000

2019
£’000

15

23

15

23

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

760

–

760

–

Non-Current

3,907

–

Right of use asset leases

3,907

–

Prior year losses carried forward to offset future profits

16. Lease liabilities
Group

Current
Right of use asset leases

Payments in the year in respect of right of use asset leases amounted to £779,374.
Lease contracts on property are generally reviewed every 5 years. More information on the transition to IFRS16
is found in note 1.

17. Provisions
Group
2020
£’000

2019
£’000

1,923

1,448

1,923

1,448

Non-Current

249

161

Clawback provision

249

161

Current
Clawback provision

Clawback provision
A provision is held within the protection division for cancelled policies ahead of the agreed terms. The provision is
calculated on the actual run-rate of lost clients with 90% of clawbacks occurring in the first 12 months.
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As at 1 November 2018
Shares issued
As at 1 November 2019
Shares issued
As at 1 November 2020

No. Shares Issued

Par value per share
£

Share Capital
£

41,982,310

0.10

4,198

803,669

0.10

80

42,785,979

0.10

4,279

195,516

0.10

19

42,981,495

0.10

4,298

On 7 November 2019, 2,424 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.65 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options
with £1.55 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 7 November 2019, 11,668 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.69 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options
with £1.59 per share transferred to the share premium account

Governance

On 7 November 2019, 1,995 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.51 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.41 per share transferred to the share premium account
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18. Share capital

On 31 January 2020, 5,800 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.00 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£0.90 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 January 2020, 4,848 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.65 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.55 per share transferred to the share premium account

On 31 January 2020, 2,660 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.51 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.41 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 29 February 2020, 8,903 Growth Shares were issued at £2.17 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£2.07 per share transferred to the share premium account

Financial statement

On 31 January 2020, 29,520 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.63 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options
with £1.53 per share transferred to the share premium account

On 28 March 2020, 88,115 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.48 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.38 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 28 March 2020, 1,216 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.48 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.38 per share transferred to the share premium account

On 31 May 2020, 3,891 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.48 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with £1.38
per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 July 2020, 6,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.65 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.55 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 July 2020, 606 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.65 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with £1.55
per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 July 2020, 1,845 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.63 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with £1.53
per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 July 2020, 665 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.51 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with £1.41
per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 July 2020, 12,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.69 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£1.59 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 31 July 2020, 3,690 Ordinary Shares were issued at £2.71 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with
£2.61 per share transferred to the share premium account
On 6 July 2020, 7,296 Growth Shares were issued at £3.18 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with £3.08
per share transferred to the share premium account
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On 31 May 2020, 1,459 Ordinary Shares were issued at £1.48 each to satisfy the exercise of Share Options with £1.38
per share transferred to the share premium account
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18. Share capital (continued)
Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to the equity holders for the year of
£10,714,744 (2019 – £10,813,160) and weighted average number of shares in issue during the period of 42,894,332
(2019 – 42,495,124).
The calculation of Underlying EBITDA adjusted for tax per share is based on the Underlying EBITDA adjusted for
tax of £15,258,227 (2019 – £13,954,788) and weighted average number of shares in issue during the period of
42,894,332 (2019 – 42,495,124).
The diluted earnings per share has been adjusted for the potential share issue relating to the share-based
payments. The number of shares has been increased by the difference between the amount of shares that will be
issued if all options are exercised and the number of shares that could be purchased for the same consideration
at average market price.

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share being net profit
attributable to shareholders
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

31 October 2020
£’000

31 October 2019
£’000

10,715

10,813

–

–

10,715

10,813

31 October 2020

31 October 2019

42,894,332

42,495,124

3,729,143

3,453,911

46,623,475

45,949,035

There are no adjustments between the net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent and the Earnings
from continued operations for the purpose of diluted earnings per share excluding discontinued operation.
Share-based payment transactions
During the year ended 31 October 2020, the Group has had thirty-eight share-based payment arrangements,
which are described below.
Type of arrangement

Date of grant

Number
granted

Contractual life

Vesting conditions

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

22-Jun-11

127,700

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

Contractors Share-option
Scheme

22-Jun-11

382,824

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

01-Aug-12

104,094

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

Contractors Share-option
Scheme

01-Aug-12

183,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

13-Jan-14

425,000

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

21-Jul-14

156,463

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

Unapproved Share-option
Scheme

21-Jul-14

261,395

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors
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Unapproved Share-option
Scheme
EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme
EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

Number
granted

Contractual life

Vesting conditions

01-Oct-14

64,781

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

01-Oct-14

01-Feb-15

24-Mar-15

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme
29-May-15
EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

01-Nov-15

89,767

9,975

3,322

6,896

127,806

124,233

10 years

Unapproved Share-option
Scheme

23-Dec-15

50,755

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

Unapproved Share-option
Scheme

26-Jan-16

35,000

10 years

Change of control, asset sale or the service
of a notice by the directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme

01-Feb-16

01-Apr-16

01-Feb-16

01-Apr-16

3-Jan-17

2-Feb-17

10-Jul-17

2-Aug-17

16-Nov-17

5,830

18,867

280,000

42,000

120,155

288,000

3,690

3,945

357,000
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23-Dec-15

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors
Financial statement

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

Governance

EMI Scheme Share-option
Scheme

Date of grant
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Type of arrangement
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18. Share capital (continued)
Type of arrangement

CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Contractors Share-option
Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme
Growth Shares Scheme
Share-option Scheme
CSOP Scheme Shareoption Scheme

Date of grant

15-Nov-17

3-Dec-17

3-Jan-18

3-Jan-18

18-Oct-18

18-Oct-18

30-Nov-18

30-Nov-18

4-Jan-19

4-Mar-19

4-Mar-19

19-Nov-19

19-Nov-19

Number
granted

77,200

273,000

145,805

17,000

52,919

546,000

40,000

60,000

71,100

42,000

8,823

449,000

20,843

Contractual life

Vesting conditions

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

10 years

Continued employment, change of control,
asset sale or the service of a notice by the
directors

All share-option schemes will vest after three years from the date of the grant subject to individual performance
vesting conditions. However, options may be exercised early if the change of control vesting conditions described
above occurs and will be exercised on a time apportioned basis. There are no cash settlement alternatives.
The provision for share-based payments has been calculated using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The variables
used in the model throughout the period have been selected as follows:
An average risk free rate of interest 2.3% based on 10-year UK Treasury Bonds.
Volatility 30% to 50% based on the actual volatility of AFH shares and comparatives with similar sized companies
in the same industry.
The grant price of all options was equal to or above the market price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the
date of grant.
The estimated weighted average fair value of share options granted in the year, as set out above, is £nil (2019 –
nil).
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Number of options
2019

Weighted average
exercise price
2019
£

At 1 November

3,453,911

2.25

3,622,564

2.12

Granted

469,843

3.00

221,923

3.67

Exercised

(179,156)

1.42

(351,090)

3.02

(15,455)

2.57

(39,486)

2.81

Outstanding at 31 October

3,729,143

2.33

3,453,911

2.25

Exercisable at 31 October

1,764,876

1.36

1,487,699

1.32

Lapsed

51,623 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £0.37 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 0.6 years.
109,223 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £0.37 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 0.6 years.

Governance

Number of options
2020

Weighted average
exercise price
2020
£
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Further details of the share option schemes are as follows:

42,500 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.7 years.
49,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.7 years.

133,693 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.47 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 3.7 years.
256,973 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.47 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 3.7 years.

Financial statement

345,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 3.2 years.

25,262 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.505 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 4 years.
1,330 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.505 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 4.3 years.

53,844 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.69 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 5 years.
24,846 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.65 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 5.1 years.
50,755 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.3 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 5.1 years.
35,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.715 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 5.2 years.
280,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.8 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 5.3 years.
52,505 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.63 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 6.2 years.
250,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.78 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 6.3 years.
337,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £2.5 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7 years.
61,200 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £2.5 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7 years.
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3,322 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £1.505 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 4.4 years.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 October 2020

18. Share capital (continued)
257,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £2.775 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.1 years.
110,805 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £2.92 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.2 years.
17,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £2.92 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 7.2 years.
47,919 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £3.94 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8 years.
526,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £3.94 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8 years.
28,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £3.82 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.1 years.
60,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £4.01 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.1 years.
49,500 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £3.38 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 8.2 years.
449,000 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £3.01 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 9.1 years.
20,843 of the options outstanding at 31 October 2020 have an exercise price of £2.87 and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 9.1 years.
The share-based payment expensed recognised is set out below:

Share-based payments expense

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

168

50

19. Reserves
The nature and purpose of each of the reserves included within equity is as follows:
Share premium
Share premium is the amount paid for shares issued in excess of the nominal value.
Treasury shares
Treasury shares is the amount of paid up capital held by the company.
Merger reserve
The merger reserve was created when the Group was formed on 23 June 2010, bringing AFH Financial Group and
AFH Group Limited under a common ownership structure. The shareholders of AFH Group Limited exchanged for
shares in AFH Financial Group.
Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve is used to recognize the value of share-based payment transactions provided
to employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration.
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Details of Directors’ remuneration including share based payments made to directors during the years ended
31 October 2020 and 31 October 2019 are disclosed in the Report of the Remuneration Committee on page 25.

21. Notes to the cash flow statement

Strategic Report

20. Directors’ remuneration

Cash generated from operations

Profit before tax

2020
£’000

2019
£’000

13,161

13,714

(29)

(57)

Adjustments for:
Interest expenses

1,024

332

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

4,514

3,189

168

50

Equity settled share-based payment expense

Governance

Interest and dividend income

Movements in working capital:
– Trade and other receivables
– Trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

(3,587)

(12,627)

(753)

1,186

14,498

5,787

Interest rate risk management
The Group have an exposure to interest rate risk arising on interest-bearing deposits.
The Board monitors its treasury at least monthly and seeks to obtain a commercial rate of return from AA or above
rated UK institutions whilst not impacting on cash flow.

Financial statement

22. Financial instruments

The possible movement in UK interest rates would not have a significant profit or loss.
Liquidity risk management

The Board reviews the Group’s liquidity at its monthly meetings. Board policy involves projecting cash flows and
considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these requirements.
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The Board monitors forecasts of the Group’s liquidity comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. This is carried out in accordance with recommended accounting
practice and limits set by the Group.
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22. Financial instruments (continued)
An analysis of the Group’s contracted maturities of financial liabilities is as follows:

2020

Effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount
£’000

8%

–

–

1-2 years
£’000

2-5
years
£’000

›5 years
£’000

–

–

–

–

Cash flows Within a year
£’000
£’000

Loans
8% unsecured bond
4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
Mortgage on freehold land
HSBC Facility Agreement

4%

13,600

13,600

–

–

13,600

–

2.9% over
LIBOR

264

264

81

80

103

–

2.75% over
LIBOR

12,000

12,000

–

–

12,000

–

Trade payables

978

978

978

–

–

–

Other payables

3,350

3,350

3,101

166

83

–

Contingent consideration

19,393

19,393

15,212

4,181

–

–

Commissions payable

5.556

5.556

5.556

–

–

–

Lease liabilities

4,667

4,667

760

701

2,034

1,172

59,808

59,808

25,688

5,128

27,820

1,172

Cash flows Within a year
£’000
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

›5 years
£’000

Total

2019

Effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount
£’000

8%

752

752

752

–

–

–

7.5%

–

–

–

–

–

–

4%

15,000

15,000

–

–

–

15,000

Loans
8% unsecured bond
7.5% Unsecured bonds
4% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stocks
Mortgage on freehold land

2.9% over
LIBOR

321

321

80

80

160

–

Trade payables

1,854

1,854

1,854

–

–

–

Other payables

3,339

3,339

3,178

107

54

–

37,900

37,900

14,433

22,167

1,300

–

4,961

4,961

4,961

–

–

–

64,127

64,127

25,258

22,354

1,514

15,000

Contingent consideration
Commissions payable
Total

There is no material difference between the fair value and carrying value for those financial liabilities held at
amortised cost. The group is exposed to movements in LIBOR through the HSBC facility and mortgage. Given
current market conditions management believe this exposure to be immaterial.
Credit risk
The Group has limited exposure to credit risk £314,003 of allowance for impairment which is estimated based on
historical cancellations.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by its trade receivables and cash balances, which are
usually paid within 35 working days.
Aged trade receivables
Current
£’000

›30 days
£’000

›60 days
£’000

›90 days
£’000

2020

25,184

–

–

–

25,184

2019

21,592

–

–

–

21,592
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Total receivables
£’000

The Group operates different credit terms in different parts of the business. The balances represent number of
days from the date of invoice. No impairments for bad or doubtful debts have been made. Given the credit terms
across the different parts of the business, the balances outside of the current category are not deemed to be past
due.

Strategic Report

Included in trade receivables is £8,068,824 of debtors due in relation to non-indemnified income earnt collectable
over a 4 year term which is net of a £314,003 allowance for impairment. £6,271,614 of this trade receivable is due
in greater than 1 year and collected over the life of the policy.

23. Related party transactions

24. Events subsequent to the Statement of Financial Position

Governance

There were no related party transactions during the 2020 financial year end. During the year ended October 2019
the Group acquired a client bank (intangible) from Price Pearson Wheatley for a total consideration of £45,900,
of which £22,950 was paid within this financial year and the remaining £22,950 is payable within 12 months. The
director, Mr J Wheatley, has a material interest in this company. As the amounts payable were to the company
and not the director the amounts are not disclosed within the remuneration committee report.

On 15 January 2021 the HSBC facility has extended to £20m on unchanged terms. This additional facility has not
been drawn.
Additional information for all subsequent events listed above is included on our announcement pages via our
website. http://www.afhfinancialgroup.com/html/announcements.html

Financial statement
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25. Group Companies
Listed below are the companies which are owned by the Group and all have a registered office of AFH House,
Buntsford Drive, Bromsgrove, B60 4JE, England:
Company

Principal Activity

Percentage owned

Holding Company

100%

AFH Independent Financial Services Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

AFH JV (Holdings) Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Eunisure Limited

Other financial services

100%(2)

Eunisure Commercial & General Limited (formerly AFH
Commercial & General Limited)

Other financial services

100%(2)

AFH Insure Limited

Other financial services

100%(2)

AFH Home & Protect Limited

Other financial services

100%(2)

Core Financial Holdings Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Core Financial Services Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Corville Financial Services Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

LFS & Partners Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

HTH Group Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Thomas Held Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Thomas Held Solutions Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Shape Financial Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Independent Financial Services (U.K.) Ltd

Other financial services

100%(1)

Davisons Financial Management Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

St Johns Asset Management Limited

Other financial services

100%

AFH Partners Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Legal services

100%

AFH Acquisitions Limited

Holding Company

100%

AFH Trust & Estate Planning Limited (formerly AFH Group
Services Limited)

Holding Company

100%

AFH Protection Group Limited

Holding Company

100%

AFH Select Ltd (formerly PCWM Ltd)

Other financial services

100%(1)

Hayburn Rock Group Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Hayburn Rock Financial Planning Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Mulberry Independent Financial Advisers Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

Broadleaf Financial Services Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

CTL Three Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

The Insurance Partnership Financial Services Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

IFA Professional Planning Limited

Other financial services

100%(1)

AFH Group Ltd

AFH Legal Limited

(1)

100% subsidiaries owned by AFH Group Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of AFH Financial Group plc.

(2)

100% subsidiaries owned by AFH Protection Group Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of AFH Financial Group plc.
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AFH FINANCIAL GROUP PLC
(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 07638831)

(the “Company”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY
IMPACT OF COVID-19 RESTRICTIONS ON THE MEETING

As the board of directors of the Company anticipate that the restrictions on personal movement and gatherings due
to Coronavirus (Covid-19) will still be in place on the date of the Annual General Meeting, it has become necessary to
restrict physical participation at the Annual General Meeting in line with the Corporate Insolvency and Governance
Act 2020.
It is the Company’s intention to proceed with holding the Annual General Meeting with the minimum quorum of
shareholders present in order to conduct the business of the meeting. Only a small number of directors will be
permitted to attend the Annual General Meeting to satisfy the minimum quorum requirements as stated in the
Company’s Articles of Association. No other shareholders or proxies will be permitted to attend the meeting in
person and any Shareholder who attempts to attend the meeting in person will have to be refused entry.
Shareholders are therefore strongly encouraged to appoint the chairman of the meeting as their proxy. If a
shareholder appoints someone else as their proxy, that proxy will not be able to attend the meeting in order to cast
the Shareholder’s vote. Therefore, the appointment of any person other than the Chairman of the meeting would
result in your votes not being cast.
In the event that our Annual General Meeting arrangements necessarily have to change, the Company will issue a
further communication via a regulatory news service. As such, we strongly recommend shareholders monitor such
communications, which can also be found on our website at: https://www.afhwm.co.uk/investor-relations/
It is the intention of the Company to hold an informal shareholder meeting later in the year when restrictions permit
to provide an update to shareholders’ and details will be made available on the Company website and through the
RNS service when a date can be set.
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING of the Company will be held at 11:00 a.m. on
Friday 12 March 2021 at AFH House, Buntsford Drive, Stoke
Heath, Bromsgrove B60 4JE for the purposes set out below
(the “Annual General Meeting”).
Ordinary Business
Ordinary Resolutions
1.	To receive the Accounts and Reports of the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) and of the Auditors
for the year ended 31 October 2020.
2.	
To re-elect Mark Chambers who is retiring for
re-election pursuant to article 24.4 of the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles”).
3.	To re-elect Susan Lewis who is retiring for re-election
pursuant to Article 24.4.
4.	To re-appoint Saffery Champness as Auditors of the
Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration.
Special Business
Ordinary Resolution
5.	That, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies
Act 2006 (the “Act”), the Directors be generally and
unconditionally authorised to allot shares in the
Company or grant rights to subscribe for or to convert
any security into shares in the Company (“Rights”)
up to an aggregate nominal amount of £400,000,
representing approximately 9.3% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company, (consisting of
4,000,000 ordinary shares of 10 pence each (“Ordinary
Shares”)) provided that this authority shall, unless
renewed, varied or revoked by the Company, expire
at the earlier of 15 calendar months from the date
upon which it is passed and the end of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held after the
date on which this resolution is passed, save that the
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Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or
agreement which would or might require shares to
be allotted or Rights to be granted and the Directors
may allot shares or grant Rights in pursuance of such
offer or agreement notwithstanding that the authority
conferred by this resolution has expired.
	
This authority is in substitution for all previous
authorities conferred on the Directors in accordance
with section 551 of the Act but without prejudice to
any allotment of shares or grant of Rights already
made, offered or agreed to be made pursuant to such
authorities.
Special Resolution
6.	
That, subject to the passing of resolution 5, the
Directors be given the general power to allot equity
securities (as defined by section 560 of the Act) for
cash, either pursuant to the authority conferred by
resolution 5 or by way of a sale of treasury shares, as
if section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to any such
allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to:
a)	the allotment of equity securities in connection
with an offer by way of a rights issue to the
holders of ordinary shares in proportion (as
nearly as may be practicable) to their respective
holdings but subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to treasury
shares, fractional entitlements, record dates,
legal or practical problems in or under the
laws of any territory or the requirements of any
regulatory body or stock exchange; and
b)	
the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to
paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £400,000,
representing approximately 9.3% of the
issued ordinary share capital of the Company,
(consisting of 4,000,000 Ordinary Shares).

7.	That the Company be, and is hereby, unconditionally
and generally authorised for the purposes of section
701 of the Act to make one or more market purchases
(within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of
Ordinary Shares on such terms and in such manner
as the directors shall determine, provided that:

b)	
the minimum price (excluding expenses)
which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is
95 per cent. of the average of the closing middle
market price for an Ordinary Share as derived
from the AIM appendix to the London Stock
Exchange’s Daily Official List for the five business
days immediately prior to the day the purchase is
made;

d)	this authority shall expire on the earlier of the
date falling 15 months after the date of the passing
of this resolution and the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the Company unless
previously revoked, varied or renewed; and
e)	
the Company may, before the expiry of the
authority granted by this resolution, enter into
a contract to purchase Ordinary Shares which
will or may be executed wholly or partly after
the expiry of such authority, and may make a
purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to any
such contract as if such authority had not expired.
Dated 15 January 2021

3.	To direct your proxy how to vote on the resolutions mark the
appropriate box with an ‘X’. To abstain from voting on a resolution,
select the relevant “Vote withheld” box. A vote withheld is not a
vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the
calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If you give no
voting indication, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at
his or her discretion. Your proxy will vote (or abstain from voting)
as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put
before the meeting.
4.	In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint
holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appointment
submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is
determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders
appear in the Company’s register of members in respect of the
joint holding (the first-named being the most senior).
5.	
If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the
appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt
of proxies will take precedence.
6.	To be valid any Form of Proxy or other instrument appointing
a proxy must be received by post or (during normal business
hours only) by hand at SLC Registrars, Elder House, St. Georges
Business Park, Brooklands Road, Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 0TS no
later than 11.00 a.m. on 10 March 2021.
7.	
The return of a completed Form of Proxy would not usually
prevent a Shareholder attending the Annual General Meeting
and voting in person if he/she wishes to do so. However
shareholders should note that, due to the Coronavirus (Covid-19)
restrictions, in respect of the Annual General Meeting they may
not attend in person and will have to be refused entry.
8.	
Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001 (as amended), the Company specifies that to be
entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (and
for the purpose of determination by the Company of the votes
they may cast), Shareholders must be registered in the Register
of Members of the Company at 6:30 pm on 10 March 2021 (or,
in the event of any adjournment, on the time and date which is
48 hours before the time of the adjourned meeting). Changes
to the Register of Members after the relevant deadline shall be
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and
vote at the meeting.
9.	As of 6.00 p.m. on the day immediately prior to the date of posting
of this Notice of Annual General Meeting, the Company’s issued
share capital comprised 42,983,638 ordinary shares of 10 pence
each and, therefore, the total number of voting rights in the
Company as at 6.00 p.m. on the day immediately prior to the date
of posting of this Notice of Annual General Meeting is 42,983,638.

By Order of the Board
Registered office:
AFH House, Buntsford Drive, Stoke Heath, Bromsgrove,
Worcester B60 4JE
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c)	the maximum price (excluding expenses) which
may be paid for each Ordinary Share is an
amount equal to 105 per cent. of the average of
the closing middle market price for an Ordinary
Share as derived from the AIM appendix to the
London Stock Exchange’s Daily Official List for the
five business days immediately prior to the day
the purchase is made;

2.	If you sign and return the proxy form with no name inserted
in the box, the Chairman of the meeting will be deemed to be
your proxy. If you appoint as your proxy someone other than the
Chairman, that person shall not be entitled to attend the meeting
in order to cast your vote.

Financial statement

a)	
the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary
Shares that may be purchased is 2,000,000
(representing approximately 5 per cent. of the
issued ordinary share capital of the Company);

1.	Shareholders are, in normal circumstances, entitled to appoint
a proxy to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to
speak and vote on their behalf at the Annual General Meeting.
However, in light of the restrictions on personal movement and
gatherings in place due to the Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic,
shareholders must appoint the chairman of the meeting as their
proxy in order to vote at the Annual General Meeting. A Form of
Proxy which may be used to make such appointment and give
proxy instructions accompanies this notice. If you do not have a
Form of Proxy and believe that you should have one, or if you
require additional forms, please contact SLC Registrars, Elder
House, St. Georges Business Park, Brooklands Road, Weybridge,
Surrey, KT13 0TS or by e-mail at office@slcregistrars.com;

Governance

	This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised
powers previously granted to the Directors to allot
equity securities as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act
did not apply but without prejudice to any allotment
of shares or grant of Rights already made, offered or
agreed to be made pursuant to such authorities.

Notes:

Strategic Report

	The power granted by this resolution will expire on
the earlier of 15 calendar months from the date upon
which it is passed and the conclusion of the Company’s
next annual general meeting (unless renewed, varied
or revoked by the Company prior to or on such date)
save that the Company may, before such expiry make
offers or agreements which would or might require
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and
the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance
of any such offer or agreement notwithstanding that
the power conferred by this resolution has expired.
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